
 
 
 
 

Friday, May 2, 2014 

10:45 am—11:45 am Immigration Law 
Presented by Paola Ledesma 

1:45 pm—2:45 pm Bankruptcy Basics 
Presented by Sam Gregory 

4:15—5:15 pm Legal Communication 
Presented by Stacy Barber 

Saturday, May 3, 2014 

9:00 am—10:00 am Contested Divorce 
Presented by Matthew Harris 

10:15 am—11:15 am Paralegal Ethics 
Presented by Joseph Kline 

1:15 pm—2:15 pm Legal Writing 
Presented by Wendy Adele Humphrey 

2:30 pm—3:30 pm Human Trafficking 
Presented by Sarah Gunter 

Texas ALP appreciates the time and expertise 
provided by the following speakers 
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Paola Ledesma
Attorney at Law 
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SAM C. GREGORY

Attorney at Law
Board Certified, 

Consumer Bankruptcy Law - 
Texas Board of Legal 

Specialization
2742 82nd Street

Lubbock, TX 79423
Phone: (806) 687-4357

Fax: (806) 687-1866
sam@samcgregory.com

Sam C. Gregory 
Biography / C.V.

Education

• B.B.A., Accounting - Texas Tech University - 1991

• M.B.A., General Business - Texas Tech University - 1994

• J.D., Law - Texas Tech University School of Law - 1994

Certifications and Special Training

• Board Certified, Consumer Bankruptcy Law - Texas Board of

• Legal Specialization

• O. Max Gardner's Bankruptcy Boot Camp

Memberships

• National Association of Consumer Bankruptcy Attorneys

• West Texas Bankruptcy Bar Association (Past President and member)

• Lubbock County Bar Association

• State Bar of Texas

• American Bankruptcy Institute

• Committee Member - Farm, Ranch & Agri-Business Bankruptcy Institute - 1997 to 2010

• Committee Member - U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas Case Management / 

Electronic Case Filing (CM/ECF) Attorney Advisory Group – 2002

Speaking Engagements and Scholarly Papers

• Electronic Filings using CM/ECF presented to the 19th Annual Farm, Ranch & Agri-Business Bankruptcy 

Institute in 2003

• Chapter 7 Cases under BAPCPA presented to the 21st Annual Farm, Ranch & Agri-Business Bankruptcy 

Institute in 2005

• The Practical Side of Representing Debtors under BAPCPA presented to the University of Texas 24th Annual 

Bankruptcy Conference in 2005

• Handling Consumer Chapter 13 Cases under BAPCPA presented to the 2006 Northern District of Texas 

Bankruptcy Bench/Bar Conference in 2006

• Hot Topics in Chapter 13 presented to the 22nd Annual Farm, Ranch & Agri-Business Bankruptcy Institute 

in 2006

• What to Do When a New Client Walks In – Beginning a New Consumer Bankruptcy Case presented to the 

University of Texas 2nd Annual Consumer Bankruptcy Practice Conference in 2006

• Recent Cases of Interest in Chapter 13 presented to the 25th Annual Farm, Ranch & Agri-business 

Institution in 2009

• "Inglorious BAPCPA" – 5 years later presented to the 2010 Northern District of Texas Bankruptcy Bench/Bar 

Conference in 2010

• Exemptions under Texas and Federal Law presented to the monthly meeting of the Lubbock County Bar 

Association in 2010

Personal

• Born in Lubbock, Texas in 1967

• Married with two children

• Member of LakeRidge United Methodist Church

• Enjoys playing the Euphonium







CHAPTER 7

Compliments of: 

Sam C. Gregory, PLLC
2742 82nd Street 

Lubbock, Texas 79423 

(806) 687-4357



1. What is chapter 7 and how does it work?

2. Who may file under chapter 7?

3. Why do I have to get credit counseling if I already know I want to file chapter 7? 

4. What is the “Means Test” and why is it so important?  

5. How much does it cost to file Bankruptcy?

=

6. What is a chapter 7 discharge?

7. What must I do to obtain a chapter 7 discharge? 



8. What debts are not released by a chapter 7?

=

'

9. Under what conditions should a husband and wife both file under chapter 7?



10. How does filing under chapter 7 affect lawsuits that have already been filed against me?

11. How does filing under chapter 7 affect my credit rating? 

12. Will I lose all of my property if I file under chapter 7?



13. Where is a chapter 7 case filed?

14. Are the names of persons who file under chapter 7 published?

15. Do I lose any of my legal rights by filing under chapter 7?

16. May employers or government agencies discriminate against me for filing under chapter 7?

17. When will I go to court in a chapter 7 case and what do I do there?

18. What happens after the meeting of creditors?



19. What is a trustee in a chapter 7 case, and what does he or she do?

20. What are my responsibilities to the trustee?

21. What happens to the property that I turn over to the trustee?

22. What happens if I have no non-exempt property for the trustee to collect?

23. What if I wish to repay one or more of my discharged debts after filing under chapter 7 (and 
What is a Reaffirmation Agreement)? 

24. What should I do if a creditor attempts to collect a debt that was discharged in my chapter 
7?

25. Does a chapter 7 discharge affect the liability of other parties who may be liable to a 
creditor on a discharged debt?



26. What is the role of the attorney for a consumer debtor in a chapter 7 case?
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Compliments of:

Sam C. Gregory, PLLC
2742 82nd Street 

Lubbock, Texas 79423 

(806) 687-4357 



1. What is chapter 13 and how does it work?

=

=

2. What is a chapter 13 plan?

=
=

3. What is a chapter 13 trustee?

=

4. What is a chapter 13 discharge? 

5. How do I get a chapter 13 discharge?

6. What debts are not released by a chapter 13 discharge?

=



=

7. What debts may be paid under a chapter 13 plan?

8. Must all debts be completely paid off under a chapter 13 plan?

9. How long does a chapter 13 last? 

10. Is credit counseling mandatory?  Why do I have to get credit counseling if I already know I 
want to file chapter 13? 

 11. Where is a chapter 13 case filed?

12. Do I lose any of my property in a chapter 13 case? 



13. How does filing under chapter 13 affect lawsuits and attachments against me? 

14. How are secured creditors treated under chapter 13?

=

A @

15. How are debts that have been co-signed, or guaranteed by someone else, handled under 
chapter 13?

16. How does filing a Chapter 13 affect my student loan  debt?

17. When do I begin making payments to the chapter 13 trustee and how often must they be 
made?

18. How does filing under chapter 13 affect my credit rating?



19. Are the names of persons who file under chapter 13 published?

20. Do I lose any of my legal rights (such as voting) by filing under chapter 13?

21. May employers or government agencies discriminate against me if I file under chapter 13?

22. What is required for court approval of a chapter 13 plan?

23. When do I have to appear in court in a chapter 13 case?

24. What if the court does not approve my chapter 13 plan?

25. What is a Proof of Claim?  How are the claims of creditors handled under chapter 13?



26. What if I incur new debts or need credit during a chapter 13 case? 

27. What should I do if I move during the course of a chapter 13 case?

28. What if I later decide to discontinue the chapter 13 case?

29. What happens if I am unable to complete my chapter 13 payments?



STACEY S. BARBER 

 
 
Stacey Barber is a partner at Crenshaw, Dupree & Milam, L.L.P.  Prior to joining the firm in 2004, Ms. Barber 
worked for the Dallas civil litigation defense firm of Matthews, Carlton & Stein.  While attending law school, 
she worked for the Law Offices of Windle Turley, P.C. in Dallas, one of the largest Plaintiff's litigation firms in 
Texas, focusing on personal injury, aviation, products liability and medical malpractice litigation. Upon 
receiving her law degree, Ms. Barber spent the next six years as an Assistant District Attorney for the 
Lubbock County Criminal District Attorney's Office, prosecuting cases at all levels of the trial court, wherein 
she gained a great deal of experience in both county and district courts as well as extensive jury trial 
experience. During her last several years as an Assistant District Attorney, she was assigned to the Special 
Crimes Unit, prosecuting specialized cases involving crimes against children. Ms. Barber then joined the firm 
of Crenshaw, Dupree & Milam, where she concentrates on family law, insurance defense, and general civil 
litigation. Ms. Barber graduated from the University of Texas in Austin and obtained her J.D. from Texas 
Wesleyan University School of Law, completing three semesters of law school at Texas Tech University 
School of Law.  
Ms. Barber is an active member of the community, having served on various community boards including 
Contact Lubbock, Inc., Child Advocacy Center review panel, Treasurer of Lubbock County Women Lawyers, 
active member of the Texas and Lubbock County Bars, Chi Omega alumni, participant of the Pro Bono Clinic 
for Legal Aid of Northwest Texas and judge for Moot Court and Mock Trial competitions at Texas Tech 
University School of Law. 
Areas of Practice 

• Family Law 
• Insurance Defense 
• Civil Litigation 

Certified Legal Specialties 

• Family Law, Texas Board of Legal Specialization 

Bar Admissions 

• Texas, 1998 

Education 

• Texas Wesleyan University School of Law, Fort Worth, Texas - 1998 
• Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas 

o Litigation Certification - 1989 
• University of Texas, Austin, Texas 

o B.S. - 1986 



Professional Associations and Memberships 

• State Bar of Texas 
• Lubbock County Bar Association 
• Lubbock County Young Lawyers Association 
• Lubbock County Women Lawyers Association 
• South Plains Association of Family Law Practice 
• Texas County and District Attorneys Association 
• College of the State Bar of Texas 
• Collaborative Law Institute of Texas 

Past Employment Positions 

• Lubbock County Criminal District Attorney, Assistant District Attorney, 1998 - 2004 
• Law Offices of Windle Turley, P.C., 1988 - 1994 
• Law Offices of Matthew, Carlton & Stein, 1987 - 1988 

Fraternities/Sororities 

• Chi Omega 
• Delta Theta Phi 





















































 

Matthew, who actually goes by Matthew instead of “Matt”, graduated from Texas Tech 
University School of Law in 2010 and is admitted to practice in Texas. 

Upon licensing, Matthew opened Matthew Harris Law, PLLC, in Lubbock, Texas, where he 
focused on Civil Litigation, Family Law, Estate Management, and Business Law.  Matthew has 
provided effective representation in a full range of cases; from the successful overturning of a 
Sheriff’s Election, all the way to a client’s name change to that of a fairy tale character. 

In January 2014, Matthew became an Adjunct Professor at Texas Tech University School of 
Law, where he teaches a comprehensive Law Office Management course. 

Before law school, Matthew served 8 years in the United States Air Force as a TACP (Tactical 
Air Control Party), and Military Training Leader, where he was awarded the Army 
Commendation Medal, Air Force Achievement Medal, and Military Outstanding Volunteer 
Service Medal.  In 2005, Matthew also served as a Reserve Police Officer in Clarksville, 
Tennessee. 

Matthew is currently enjoying his 13th year of marital bliss to his high school sweetheart, Carrie, 
and is also active in the Boy Scouts of America with their 11 year old son, Brett. 

Degrees 
J.D., Texas Tech University School of Law, 2010 
A.A.S., Community College of the Air Force, 2007 
B.A., Honors, American Military University, 2006 
A.A.S., Community College of the Air Force, 2006 

Publications 
Matthew writes and/or edits a weekly legal blog that covers the areas of Civil Litigation, Family 
Law, Criminal Law, Business Law, and Estate Management, which averages 800-900 visits per 
month. 

Speaking Engagements 

Matthew L. Harris, Esq. 



New Laws and Your Firm – National Association of Legal Professionals (Aug 2013) 
Considerations in Texas Adoptions – Lubbock Legal Professionals Association (Jun 2013) 
How to Open a Law Firm – TTU Solo Series: Law Practice Management Program (Apr 2013) 
Gun Laws Every Texans Should Know – Lubbock Legal Professionals Association (Feb 2013) 
Law Office Management & Solo Practice – TTU Lunch Presentation (Mar 2012) 
Opening a Law Firm – TTU Solo Series: Law Practice Management Program (Feb 2012) 
 



Contested Divorces 

-Matthew L. Harris, Esq. 
1001 Main Street, Suite 200, Lubbock, Texas 

Blog.MatthewHarrisLaw.com 

Matthew Harris Law, PLLC 
1001 Main Street, Suite 200, Lubbock, Texas 

Blog.MatthewHarrisLaw.com 

Vision for this Course 

To understand the creation of 
a marital relationship, and 

the issues that arise in 
dissolving it. 



OVERVIEW 

• What is a Marriage? 
• How to Create a Marriage 
• The Suit for Divorce 
• Fault vs. No-Fault 
• Division of Property 
• The Final Trial 

What is a Marriage? 

•  Marriage is “the foundation of the 
family and of society, without which 
there would be neither civilization nor 
progress.” 

 -Maynard v. Hill, 125 U.S. 190, 211 (1888) 

What is a Marriage? 

“The state of being united to a 
person of the opposite sex as 
husband or wife in a consensual 
and contractual relationship 
recognized by law.” 
-Merriam-Webster, 2014 



What is a Marriage? 

In Texas, same-sex marriage is 
currently not allowed. 

 
“A marriage between persons of 
the same sex or a civil union is 
contrary to the public policy of this 
state and is void in this state.”  
--Tex. Fam. Code § 6.204(b) 

What is a Marriage? 

In Texas, same-sex marriage is 
currently not allowed. (cont.) 

 
"Marriage in this state shall 
consist only of the union of one 
man and one woman.” 
-Tex. Const. art. I, § 32(a) 

What is a Marriage? 

In Texas, same-sex marriage is 
currently not allowed. (cont.) 

 

However, this may not be the 
case for long. 
 

(Feb 2014 Federal Judge struck 
as unconst. Awaiting 5th Cir.) 



How to Create a Marriage 

• Ceremonial Marriage 
– Also known as Formal Marriage 

• Informal Marriage 
– Also known as Common Law 

Marriage 

How to Create a Marriage 

• Ceremonial Marriage 
– Must obtain a marriage license 
– Must wait 72 hours (with some 

exceptions) 
– Then voluntarily participate in 

a marriage ceremony within 90 
days 

How to Create a Marriage 

•  Informal Marriage 
– Can go to County Clerk and 

Declare/Register Informal 
Marriage 

--Tex. Fam. Code § 2.402 



How to Create a Marriage 

•  Informal Marriage (cont.) 
– Or if a man and woman meet 

certain criteria: 
• Agreed to be Married 
• Lived together as Husband/Wife 
• Held out as Husband/Wife 

--Tex. Fam. Code § 2.401 

The Suit for Divorce 

• Considerations: 
– Jurisdiction 

• Which state is proper? 
– Venue 

• If Texas, then which County is 
proper? 

The Suit for Divorce 

•  Jurisdiction 
– Court must have personal 

jurisdiction over the parties and 
property 

– Where was the Last Marital 
Residence? (2 year rule) 



The Suit for Divorce 
•  Last Marital Residence 

– “The Family code does not define the 
term last marital residence, and case law 
interpreting section 6.305(a)(1) is sparse.  
In Casey v. Casey…the Court noted that 
one commentator had suggested that last 
marital residence implies “a permanent 
place of abode by the spouses.” 
Goodenbour v. Goodenbour, 64 §.W.3d 
69, 76 (Tex. App.—Austin 2001) 

The Suit for Divorce 

•  Jack and Diane got married in Texas 
where they lived for 10 years, but 
Diane moved to North Dakota 6 
months ago.  Can Jack file suit in 
Texas? 

The Suit for Divorce 

•  General Residency Requirement 
– Must be domiciliary of this state for preceding 

6 month period, & 
– Resident of the county in which the suit is 

filed for the preceding 90-day period 
 
Tex. Fam. Code § 6.301 



The Suit for Divorce 

•  Special considerations for Military 

•  Time spent by member, or spouse, 
outside of county of residence while in 
service of armed force, is considered as 
residence in this state and that county. 

 
Tex. Fam. Code § 6.303 

The Suit for Divorce 

•  Children MUST be included! 
– If there are children of the marriage under 18, 

or otherwise obligated to support, then must 
be included in the divorce suit. 

– If SAPCR already pending, then must be 
transferred into the Divorce and consolidated 
• Can’t consolidate Divorce into the SAPCR 

Tex. Fam. Code §§ 6.406 & 6.407 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

•  The intent of the legislature in 
enacting no-fault legislation was to 
avoid the necessity of presenting 
sordid and ugly details of either 
spouse’s conduct to obtain a divorce. 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

•  No-Fault Grounds: 
– Insupportability 
– Living Apart 
– Confinement in Mental Hospital 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

•  Insupportability: 
– ALWAYS plead  the “no-fault” ground of 

Insupportability into every divorce pleading! 
• Easy to prove at trial 
• Great alternative in case you lose your fault 

grounds 
• Most divorces in Texas use this ground as 

sole basis for divorce 

Fault vs. No-Fault 
•  Insupportability: 

– “Insupportable” means unendurable, 
insufferable, and intolerable.  
   Cusack v. Cusak, 491 S.W.2d 714, 720 (Tex. 

  App.—Corpus Christi 1973) 

– Can still be contested! 
– Relieves burden of establishing fault 

but doesn’t relieve burden of proving 
your case at trial. 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

•  Elements of Insupportability: 
– The marriage has become insupportable 

because of discord or conflict, 
– The discord or conflict destroys the legitimate 

ends of the marriage, and 
– There is no reasonable expectations of 

reconciliation 
Tex. Fam. Code § 6.001 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

•  Fault Grounds: 
– Someone’s been naughty! 
– Divorce based on fault means one 

spouse was at fault for the breakup 
of the marriage 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Fault Grounds: 
– Adultery, 
– Cruelty, 
– Felony Conviction, and 
– Abandonment 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Fault Grounds: 
– Adultery – “The court may grant 

a divorce in favor of one spouse 
if the other spouse has 
committed adultery.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.003 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Adultery: 
– What is it?  What isn’t it? 
– It isn’t holding hands, flirting, 

kissing, etc. 
– It isn’t an emotional affair.  

That’s cheating, not adultery. 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Adultery: 
– Defined as “the voluntary sexual 

intercourse of a married person 
with one not the husband or 
wife of the offender.” 

In re Marriage of C.A.S., 405 S.W.3d 373, 
383 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2013) 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Adultery: 
– Must be clear and positive proof 
– Direct or circumstantial 

evidence 
– Mere suggestion and innuendo 

are insufficient 
In re C.A.S., 405 S.W.3d at 383 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Adultery: 
– Not limited to actions prior to 

separation 
– Pictures of hugging, kissing, 

proof of weekends and trips 
together was enough evidence 

In re C.A.S., 405 S.W.3d at 383 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Fault Grounds: 
– Cruelty – “The court may grant a 

divorce in favor of one spouse if 
the other spouse is guilty of cruel 
treatment toward the complaining 
spouse of a nature that renders 
further living together 
insupportable.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.002 



Fault vs. No-Fault 
•  Cruelty: 

– Remember, “Insupportable” means 
unendurable, insufferable, and 
intolerable. 

– Cruel treatment requires willful and 
persistent infliction of unnecessary 
suffering; mere trivial matters or 
disagreements are not sufficient. 
(Ayala v. Ayala, 387 §.W.3d 721, 733 (Tex. 
App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 2011)) 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Cruelty: 
– The suffering may be mental or 

physical and may consist of a 
single act or many different acts 
or combinations of misconduct, 
including acts occurring after 
separation. (See Ayala) 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Cruelty: 
– Can also include Adultery 
– El Paso Court of Appeals found 

that adultery alone can be 
sufficient to grant divorce for 
cruelty.  

Newberry v. Newberry, 351 §.W.3d 552, 
557 (Tex. App.—El Paso 2011) 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Felony Conviction: 
– “The court may grant a divorce in 

favor of one spouse if during the 
marriage the other spouse: 
• Has been convicted of a felony, 
• Has been imprisoned for at least 1 

year, and 
• Has not been pardoned 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.004(a) 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Felony Conviction: 
– “The court may grant a divorce in 

favor of one spouse if during the 
marriage the other spouse: 
• Has been convicted of a felony, 
• Has been imprisoned for at least 1 

year, and 
• Has not been pardoned 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.004(a) 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Felony Conviction: 
– “The court may not grant a 

divorce under this section 
against a spouse who was 
convicted on the testimony of 
the other spouse.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.004(b) 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Abandonment: 
– “The court may grant a divorce in 

favor of one spouse if the other 
spouse: 
• Left the complaining spouse with the 

intention of abandonment, and 
• Remained away for at least 1 year 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.005 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Abandonment: 
– Must be voluntary (being 

drafted into military isn’t 
voluntary) 

– Voluntarily enlisting in military 
is. 

Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Abandonment: 
– Being kicked out of the house 

isn’t voluntary abandonment 
– Not abandonment if spouse 

tries to come home and is 
refused 



Fault vs. No-Fault 

• Fault = Someone messed up 

• No-Fault = We just shouldn’t 
be married anymore 

• Why choose fault? $$$ 

Property Division 

• Duty of the Court 
– Divide & Confirm 

• Divide 
– Community Property must be 

divided 
• Confirm 

– Separate Property must be 
confirmed as separate 

Property Division 

• General Rule 
– “In a decree of divorce or 

annulment, the court shall order a 
division of the estate of the parties 
in a manner that the court deems 
just and right, having due regard 
for the rights of each party and any 
children of the marriage.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 7.001 



Property Division 

• Division need not be equal 
• Court can consider many 

factors in deciding what is 
“just and right” in the division 
of community property 

Property Division 

• Factors: 
– Nature of marital property 
– Relative earning capacity 
– Relative financial conditions/oblig. 
– Parties’ education 
– Size of separate estates 
– Age/health/phys. cond. of parties 
– Benefit innocent spouse would have 

rec’d had marriage continued 

Property Division 

• Factors: (cont’d) 
– Probable need for future support 
– Fault in breakup of marriage 
 

Murff v. Murff, 615 S.W.2d 696, 698-99 
(Tex. 1981) 



Property Division 

• Court/Jury has A LOT of 
leeway in dividing community 
property 

•  In re CAS, court awarded wife 
81%, upheld on appeal 

Property Division 

• Reimbursement 
– Basically, if one spouse is placed in a 

better position through use of the 
community assets, then can claim a 
reimbursement 
• Use community property to improve 

separate property 
• Use community property to pay down 

principal of separate debt 

Property Division 

• Fraud on Community 
– Basically, if one violates fiduciary duty 

between spouses and wastes community 
assets with no benefit to other. 
• Excessive gifts to paramour 
• Transfers made with the primary 

purpose of depriving the other spouse 
of that asset 



Property Division 

• Separate Property 
– “Property possessed by either spouse 

during or on dissolution of marriage is 
presumed to be community property.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 3.003(a) 

Property Division 

• What is Separate Property? 
– Property owned prior to marriage 
– Property acquired by gift, devise, 

or descent during marriage 
– Recovery from Personal Injury 

(except for loss of earning 
capacity) 

Tex. Fam. Code § 3.001 

Property Division 

• Separate Property 
– “The degree of proof necessary to 

establish that property is separate 
property is clear and convincing 
evidence.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 3.003(b) 



Property Division 

• Clear and Convincing Evidence 
– The highest burden of proof on the civil side. 
– Same burden of proof required to terminate 

someone's parental rights. 

– Clear and Convincing Evidence means "the 
measure or degree of proof that will produce 
in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or 
conviction as to the truth of the allegations 
sought to be established."  

Tex. Fam. Code § 101.007 

The Final Trial 

•  “In a suit for dissolution of a 
marriage, either party may 
demand a jury trial unless the 
action is a suit to annul an 
underage marriage.” 

Tex. Fam. Code § 6.703 

The Final Trial 

• Jury can decide questions of 
fact 

• Judge decides questions of law 

• Jury can be waived and Judge 
can decide both law and fact 



The Final Trial 

• Jury can decide 
– Whether there is fault in the 

breakup of the marriage 
– Whether certain property is 

community/separate 
• Or a certain % of each 

The Final Trial 

• Jury can decide (cont’d) 
– Conservatorship over children 

• Sole or Joint 
• If joint, then custody and 

geographic restrictions 
- Attorney’s Fees 

Conclusion 

• Marital Relationships are 
undergoing some changes 
right now.   

• What the law says is a 
marriage now, may not be the 
law in 3 years. 



Conclusion 

• Divorces are messy, 
ESPECIALLY when they are 
contested. 

• The best we can do is advise 
our clients and allow them to 
make informed decisions. 

THANK YOU! 

Well Prepared? Informative? 
Helpful? 

 
Would you provide us some useful 

feedback? 
 

tinyurl.com/MHLFeedback 
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405 S.W.3d 373 (2013)

In the Matter of the MARRIAGE OF C.A.S. AND D.P.S.

No. 05-11-01338-CV.
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Before Justices LANG-MIERS and FILLMORE.[1]

*379 OPINION379

Opinion by Justice FILLMORE.

Daniel Silvey (Daniel) appeals from a divorce decree dissolving the marriage between him and Cynthia
Silvey (Cynthia). In three issues, Daniel argues the trial court erred in dividing the marital property, by
granting the divorce on fault grounds, and by failing to make sufficient findings of fact. We affirm the
trial court's judgment.

Background

Daniel and Cynthia married in 1999 and separated on March 23, 2009 when Cynthia moved out of the
marital home. Cynthia filed for divorce in August 2009 alleging irreconcilable differences but, shortly
before trial, filed an amended petition asserting Daniel had committed adultery and seeking a
disproportionate share of the community estate. The property division issues were tried to the bench
over the course of four nonconsecutive days between April and July 2011.

On July 6, 2011, the trial court sent a letter to the parties stating the divorce was granted on fault
grounds and setting out the division of the marital property. On July 22, 2011, Daniel filed a request for
findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to rules of civil procedure 296 and 297 and, on August
1, 2011, filed a supplemental request for findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to section
6.711 of the family code. Daniel filed a motion for new trial on August 5, 2011, a notice of past due
findings of fact and conclusions of law on August 12, 2011, and a notice of appeal on October 3, 2011.
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On October 13, 2011, the trial court signed a final decree of divorce that specifically divided certain of
the community assets and liabilities and ordered that any of the community assets not specifically
divided would be divided through alternate selection by Cynthia and Daniel. On November 14, 2011,
the trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to section 6.711 of the family code
and rules of civil procedure 296 and 297. The trial court found that Daniel had committed adultery and
that the divorce was granted on that basis. The trial court also found that Daniel "made a game of this
divorce. On the surface it appears that he has made a game of the dissolution of his business, and
such conduct on his part constitutes a `mockery of the judicial system.'" The trial court valued a number
of the specifically divided assets, as well as some of the assets that were to be divided by alternate
selection. Our review of the trial court's findings indicates the marital assets that were specifically
divided and valued by the trial court equal $1,646,683.10. Cynthia was awarded $1,334,958.10, or
eighty-one percent, of these assets, and Daniel was awarded $311,735.00, or nineteen percent, of
these assets. The trial court also listed the factors it considered in making a just and right division of
the community estate.

On December 12, 2011, Daniel requested the trial court make additional findings, asserting his counsel
had not been notified of the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law until December 3, 2011.
Daniel specifically requested the trial court make findings as to:

A. Whether adultery of [Daniel] was at fault for causing the break up of the parties'
marriage.

B. Whether the marriage became insupportable because of discord or conflict of
personalities that destroyed the legitimate ends of the marital relationship and prevented
any reasonable expectation of reconciliation.

*380 C. Whether any conduct of [Daniel] as alleged in paragraph 9 of [Cynthia's] Second
Amended Petition for Divorce supports the award of a disproportionate share of the
community estate in favor of Cynthia.

380

Daniel specifically requested nineteen additional findings relating to these three subjects.

On January 26, 2012, the trial court signed an amended decree of divorce that did not change the
division of community property, but awarded Daniel certain property as his separate property. On
February 15, 2012, Daniel again requested findings of fact and conclusions of law and, on March 14,
2012, filed a notice of past due findings of fact and conclusions of law. The trial court did not make any
additional findings or conclusions.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

In his third issue, Daniel contends the trial court erred by failing to make sufficient findings of fact, by

failing to timely mail its findings to counsel, and by failing to make additional findings.[2]

Daniel first asserts the trial court's findings failed to comply with section 6.711(a) of the family code
because the findings "omit evaluation findings for a third of the items divided in the decree, including
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significantly, [Daniel's] tax liability." Daniel's brief contains no further argument pertinent to this
complaint, and we question whether it had been adequately briefed. See TEX.R.APP. P. 38.1(h), (i).
However, we will address the complaint as to the tax liability, the only specific asset or liability raised by
Daniel on appeal.

Section 6.711(a) of the family code provides that in a suit for dissolution of marriage, on request by a
party, the court shall state in writing its findings of fact and conclusions of law concerning (1) the
characterization of each party's assets, liabilities, claims, and offsets on which disputed evidence has
been presented, and (2) the value or amount of the community estate's assets, liabilities, claims, and
offsets on which disputed evidence has been presented. TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.711(a) (West
2006). The trial court apportioned the parties' 2009 and 2010 tax liability to Daniel. As to the tax liability,
Daniel testified he estimated the tax liability for 2009 was $40,000 and for 2010 was $20,000. Cynthia
testified she had been told there was a tax debt for 2009 and 2010, but had not been provided any
documents to substantiate that claim. Based on the check register, Cynthia believed $240,000 had
been paid toward the 2009 tax liability and that there was an additional $75,000 credit carried forward
from the 2008 tax return to be applied to the 2009 tax liability. Daniel agreed that approximately
$300,000 had been paid toward the 2009 tax liability. Because the amount of the tax liability was
undisputed, the trial court was not required to make a finding as to the amount. See TEX. FAM.CODE
ANN. § 6.711(a); Jackson v. Jackson, No. 03-10-00736-CV, 2011 *381 WL 3373290, at *3 (Tex.App.-
Austin Aug. 3, 2011, no pet.) (mem. op.).

381

Daniel next contends the trial court erred by failing to timely mail its November 14, 2011 findings to
Daniel's counsel and by failing to make additional findings as requested by Daniel on December 12,
2011. Daniel argues the original findings fail to (1) state whether the trial court found that adultery
caused the dissolution of the marriage or related to pre-or post-separation conduct, (2) state the basis
for the trial court's award to Cynthia of more property than she requested, and (3) contained no
explanation for the trial court's "harsh rebuke" that Daniel had made a game of the divorce and the
dissolution of his business and that his conduct constituted a "mockery of our judicial system." Daniel
asserts he is "left guessing" as to the basis for the trial court's ruling and cannot adequately address
the findings on appeal. Daniel's complaints necessarily relate to the trial court's failure to make
additional findings pursuant to rule of civil procedure 298. See Moore v. Moore, 383 S.W.3d 190, 200-
01 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2012, pet. denied) (recognizing distinction between findings of fact under section
6.711 of the family code and findings of fact under rules of civil procedure).

Rule of civil procedure 298 provides that, after a trial court files original findings of fact and conclusions
of law, "any party may file with the clerk of the court a request for specified additional or amended
findings or conclusions. The request for these findings shall be made within ten days after the filing of
the original findings and conclusions by the court." TEX.R. CIV. P. 298. When a party makes an
untimely request for additional findings and conclusions, the party waives the right to complain on
appeal of the trial court's refusal to enter the additional findings or conclusions. Edgewater Seed
Market v. Magnolia Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 11-07-00136-CV, 2008 WL 4512851, at *2 (Tex.App.-
Eastland Oct. 9, 2008, no pet.) (mem. op.); Cities Servs. Co. v. Ellison, 698 S.W.2d 387, 390 (Tex.App.-
Houston [14th Dist.] 1985, writ ref'd n.r.e.). In this case, Daniel failed to file his request for additional
findings of fact and conclusions of law within ten days after the trial court signed the original findings of
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fact and conclusions of law. Although Daniel claims he was prevented from making a timely request for
additional findings by the trial court's failure to provide timely notice of the filing of the findings of fact
and conclusions of law, he did not obtain a ruling from the trial court as to the date he received notice.
See TEX.R. CIV. P. 306a; Florance v. State, 352 S.W.3d 867, 873 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2011, no pet.).
Other than Daniel's contention in his request for the additional findings that he had not received notice
of the original findings, the record is silent as to when either Daniel or his counsel was notified of the
filing of the findings and conclusions.

Daniel had the burden to preserve any error in the trial court. See TEX.R.APP. P. 33.1(a). His recitation
in his request for additional findings and in his brief that he did not receive notice of the findings of fact

and conclusions of law is not sufficient to preserve error.[3] We cannot conclude Daniel preserved his
right to complain on appeal about the trial court's failure to make the additional findings.

Further, even if Daniel had preserved this issue for appeal, we conclude he has not shown the trial
court abused its discretion by failing to enter the requested additional findings. Additional findings *382

are not required if the original findings and conclusions properly and succinctly relate the ultimate
findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary to apprise the party of information adequate for the
preparation of the party's appeal. Pakdimounivong v. City of Arlington, 219 S.W.3d 401, 412 (Tex.App.-
Fort Worth 2006, pet. denied). An ultimate fact is one that would have a direct effect on the judgment.
Id. There is no reversible error if the refusal to file additional findings does not prevent a party from
adequately presenting an argument on appeal. Id. The controlling issue is whether the circumstances
of the particular case require the party to guess at the reasons for the trial court's decision. White v.
Harris-White, No. 01-07-00521-CV, 2009 WL 1493015, at *6 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] May 28,
2009, pet. denied) (mem. op. on reh'g).

382

The ultimate issue in this case is the just and right division of the estate. See id. at *5. The trial court
divided the marital property and made findings of fact and conclusions of law involving the court's
jurisdiction over the parties, the assets and liabilities of the marital estate, Daniel's adultery, Daniel's
conduct during the litigation, and other factors the trial court considered in determining a just and right
division of the estate. The additional findings requested by Daniel related to (1) whether Daniel's
adultery was at fault in the breakup of the marriage, and (2) the factors the trial court considered in
dividing the community estate. However, the trial court had already granted the divorce based on fault
and found that Daniel had committed adultery. Further, the trial court was not required to make findings
regarding the factors it considered in dividing the estate. See Wallace v. Wallace, 623 S.W.2d 723, 726
(Tex.Civ.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1981, writ dism'd).

We conclude the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are sufficiently specific to allow
Daniel to present his complaints on appeal and, accordingly, Daniel was not harmed by the trial court's
failure to make the requested additional findings. We resolve Daniel's third issue against him.

Standard of Review

In his first and second issues, Daniel argues the trial court erred in the division of the marital estate and
by granting the divorce on fault grounds. We review both of these issues under an abuse of discretion
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standard. See In re A.B.P., 291 S.W.3d 91, 95 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2009, no pet.) (most appealable issues
in family law cases are evaluated for abuse of discretion). A trial court abuses its discretion when it acts
arbitrarily or unreasonably, or without any reference to guiding rules and principles. Worford v.
Stamper, 801 S.W.2d 108, 109 (Tex.1990); see also Gonzalez v. Gonzalez, 331 S.W.3d 864, 866
(Tex.App.-Dallas 2011, no pet).

A trial court's findings are reviewable for legal and factual sufficiency of the evidence under the same
standards that are applied in reviewing evidence supporting a jury's answer. Moroch v. Collins, 174
S.W.3d 849, 857 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2005, pet. denied). In evaluating a legal sufficiency challenge, we
credit evidence that supports the finding if a reasonable fact finder could, and disregard contrary
evidence unless a reasonable fact finder could not. City of Keller v. Wilson, 168 S.W.3d 802, 827
(Tex.2005); Newberry v. Newberry, 351 S.W.3d 552, 555 (Tex.App.-El Paso 2011, no pet.). The test for
legal sufficiency is "whether the evidence at trial would enable reasonable and fair-minded people to
reach the verdict under review." City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 827. In a factual sufficiency review, we
examine all the evidence *383 in the record, both supporting and contrary to the trial court's finding, and
reverse only if the finding is so against the great weight of the evidence as to be clearly wrong and
unjust. Ortiz v. Jones, 917 S.W.2d 770, 772 (Tex.1996) (per curiam); Newberry, 351 S.W.3d at 555-56.

383

In family law cases, legal and factual sufficiency challenges do not constitute independent grounds for
asserting error, but are relevant factors in determining whether the trial court abused its discretion.
Moore, 383 S.W.3d at 198. To determine whether the trial court abused its discretion because the
evidence is legally or factually insufficient to support the trial court's decision, we consider whether the
trial court (1) had sufficient evidence upon which to exercise its discretion, and (2) erred in its
application of that discretion. Moroch, 174 S.W.3d at 857. We conduct the applicable sufficiency review
when considering the first prong of the test. Id. We then determine whether, based on the elicited
evidence, the trial court made a reasonable decision. Id. A trial court does not abuse its discretion if
there is some evidence of a substantive and probative character to support the decision. Id.

Fault

In his second issue, Daniel argues the trial court erred by granting the divorce on fault grounds
because the evidence is legally and factually insufficient to establish adultery caused the marriage to
fail. A trial court "may grant a divorce in favor of one spouse if the other spouse has committed
adultery." TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.003 (West 2006). Adultery means the "voluntary sexual
intercourse of a married person with one not the spouse." In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d 853, 856 (Tex.App.-
Dallas 2009, no pet.); see also Ayala v. Ayala, 387 S.W.3d 721, 733 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.]
2011, no pet.). Adultery is not limited to actions committed before the parties separated. Ayala, 387
S.W.3d at 733; Bell v. Bell, 540 S.W.2d 432, 435 (Tex.Civ.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1976, no writ).
Adultery can be shown by direct or circumstantial evidence. In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d at 856; Newberry,
351 S.W.3d at 556. However, there must be clear and positive proof and mere suggestion and
innuendo are insufficient. In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d at 856.

Cynthia testified that, after she moved out of the marital residence, she hoped that she and Daniel
would reconcile and she asked Daniel to participate in counseling. However, Daniel failed to participate
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meaningfully in counseling, and the counselor eventually told Cynthia the marriage was a "lost cause."
In June 2009, Cynthia began to suspect that Daniel had committed adultery.

Daniel admitted that he began a personal relationship with Maria Alvarez at the "end of November-
December time frame," but "it wasn't until either the last day of January or February when I actually
went to visit and — for the first time in 2010, and I wanted to date her at that point." However, in
September 2009, Cynthia found a woman's underwear and suitcase in the master bedroom of the
marital home. Also in September 2009, a private investigator filmed Daniel and Alvarez kissing and
hugging at an airport. In 2010, Daniel and Alvarez spent a number of weekends and took several trips
together. Further, although Daniel testified Alvarez later reimbursed him, Daniel also bought Alvarez
several expensive gifts.

Although there was conflicting evidence about when the relationship began, Daniel's relationship with
Alvarez was undisputed. Accordingly, the evidence is both legally and factually sufficient to support the
trial court's finding that Daniel *384 committed adultery, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by
granting the divorce on fault grounds. We resolve Daniel's second issue against him.

384

Property Division

In his first issue, Daniel asserts the trial court erred in dividing the marital estate because it lacked
sufficient valuation evidence to make an equitable and reasonable division. Daniel specifically
complains the trial court (1) improperly valued the major asset of the estate, (2) lacked sufficient
evidence of Cynthia's attorney's fees, (3) failed to value one-third of the assets and debts divided in the
decree, (4) improperly valued the real estate and other assets, (5) awarded to Daniel assets that he
liquidated, but did not award Cynthia assets that she liquidated, (6) awarded a grossly disproportionate
division to Cynthia without a reasonable basis, (7) considered factors in its division that were not
pleaded and for which there was no evidence, (8) failed to include unliquidated claims in its division,
and (9) made a punitive division of the property.

In a divorce decree, the trial court shall order a division of the parties' estate in a manner that the court
deems just and right, having due regard for the rights of each party. TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 7.001
(West 2006). The trial court is afforded broad discretion in dividing the community estate, and we must
indulge every reasonable presumption in favor of the trial court's proper exercise of its discretion.
Schlueter v. Schlueter, 975 S.W.2d 584, 589 (Tex.1998); Murff v. Murff, 615 S.W.2d 696, 698
(Tex.1981); Motley v. Motley, 390 S.W.3d 689, 695 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2012, no pet.).

The property division need not be equal, and a trial court may consider many factors when exercising
its broad discretion to divide the marital property. Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Barras v. Barras, 396
S.W.3d 154, 163 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2013, no pet. h.). Such factors include the nature of
the marital property, the relative earning capacity and business opportunities of the parties, the parties'
relative financial condition and obligations, the parties' education, the size of separate estates, the age,
health, and physical conditions of the parties, fault in breaking up the marriage, the benefit the innocent
spouse would have received had the marriage continued, and the probable need for future support.
Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Barras, 396 S.W.3d at 163. The party complaining of the division of the
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community estate has the burden of showing from the evidence in the record that the trial court's
division of the community estate was so unjust and unfair as to constitute an abuse of discretion. See
Mann v. Mann, 607 S.W.2d 243, 245 (Tex. 1980); Pappas v. Pappas, No. 03-12-00177-CV, 2013 WL
150300, at *1 (Tex. App.-Austin Jan. 10, 2013, no pet.) (mem. op.); Vannerson v. Vannerson, 857
S.W.2d 659, 672 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1993, writ denied).

Sufficient Evidence of Partnership Interest

Daniel first argues there was no or insufficient evidence of the value of the community's interest in a
partnership at the time of the divorce and that the interest was improperly valued as of the time of a
mediation in 2010. Daniel was one of three partners in GP Holdings, a partnership which controlled
Atlas Service Link, a corporate tax accounting and technology consulting firm. At the end of 2009,
Daniel's two partners told him that they had formed a new partnership that was buying Atlas Service
Link from GP Holdings and Daniel's interest in GP Holdings was being eliminated. GP Holdings also
placed *385 $1,115,000 into Daniel's capital account, reflecting its assessment of the value of Daniel's
interest in the partnership.

385

Cynthia testified that Daniel had communicated with her about the capital account and said it contained
$1.115 million. Daniel also told her that his share of the profits from the partnership for 2009 would be
approximately $1,000,000 and that he determined that number based on a schedule K-1 for the
partnership. In October 2010, Cynthia, Daniel, and Daniel's former partners participated in mediation in
an attempt to settle the value of marital estate's interest in the partnership. At that time, the partnership
valued the capital account at $1.115 million.

Daniel offered no contradictory evidence as to the value of the partnership interest, but testified there
was a difference between the value of the capital account and the value of his interest in GP Holdings.
He admitted a capital account is one method of valuing the interest, but disagreed that it was the
correct method to use in this case. He claimed he could not value any interest in the partnership
exceeding the amount in the capital account because he had been denied access by the partnership to
necessary information. He admitted that an expert he retained agreed with the value placed on the
partnership interest by GP Holdings, but contended the expert also was not provided all necessary
information.

The value of community assets is generally determined at the date of divorce or as close to it as
possible. Handley v. Handley, 122 S.W.3d 904, 908 (Tex. App.-Corpus Christi 2003, no pet.);
Grossnickle v. Grossnickle, 935 S.W.2d 830, 837 (Tex.App.-Texarkana 1996, writ denied). However, "
[n]earness in time is a matter left to the discretion of the trial court." Finch v. Finch, 825 S.W.2d 218,
223 (Tex. App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1992, no writ) (trial court did not abuse its discretion by considering
land appraisal made one year earlier in dividing real estate on date of divorce); see also Quijano v.
Quijano, 347 S.W.3d 345, 349-50 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2011, no pet.) (trial court did not
abuse its discretion by considering six-month-old statement to assess value of checking account when
that was best evidence of record concerning value of account). In this case, Cynthia provided the trial
court with a value of the partnership approximately six months before trial. The partnership had not
been active for over two years, and there was no evidence of any activity by the partnership between
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October 2010 and April 2011 that would have increased the value of the community's interest in the
partnership.

Daniel claims the partnership interest was improperly valued, but provided no evidence of what he
believed the interest was worth. Generally, a party who does not provide to the trial court any value for
the property cannot, on appeal, complain of the trial court's lack of information in dividing the
community estate. Deltuva v. Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d 882, 887 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2003, no pet.) (op. on
reh'g); Sereno v. Sereno, No. 13-08-00691-CV, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2 (Tex. App.-Corpus Christi
Dec. 30, 2010, no pet.) (mem. op.); Todd v. Todd, 173 S.W.3d 126, 129 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 2005,
pet. denied); Vannerson, 857 S.W.2d at 670. We conclude the trial court did not abuse its discretion by
valuing the partnership interest based on the value of the capital account as of September 2010.

Attorney's Fees

Daniel next asserts the trial court lacked sufficient evidence of Cynthia's attorney's fees to support the
award of the partnership interest to compensate her for her fees. Daniel argues the evidence failed to
*386 establish the hourly rate charged by Cynthia's attorney, the number of hours incurred, or that legal
assistant fees were recoverable; the amount of attorney's fees found by the trial court in its findings of
fact was more than the amount testified to by the attorney; and the trial court's award of the entire
capital account to Cynthia, to compensate her for the attorney's fees, awarded her more than she

sought and, therefore, constituted a windfall.[4]

386

The record shows both parties expended community funds during the pendency of the divorce to pay
attorney's fees and, at the time of trial, there were outstanding attorney's fees that had not been paid.

The trial court found that, through trial, Cynthia had incurred unpaid fees of $164,028.92,[5] while
Daniel had incurred unpaid fees of $130,000. The trial court found that "[o]rdering [Daniel] to pay
[Cynthia's] attorney's fees would simply result in extended litigation. Rather, it is more simple and fair to
award [Cynthia] a larger share of the main assets to compensate her for her attorney's fees."

A trial court may consider reasonable attorney's fees, along with the parties' circumstances and needs,
in effecting a just and right division of the estate. Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Carle v. Carle, 149 Tex.
469, 474, 234 S.W.2d 1002, 1005 (1950); Mandell v. Mandell, 310 S.W.3d 531, 542 (Tex.App.-Fort
Worth 2010, pet. denied). "[A] decree that the husband pay all of the wife's attorney's fees may be to
award him less of the community estate than that awarded to the wife, but that alone does not condemn
it. The attorney's fee is but a factor to be considered by the court in making an equitable division of the
estate, considering the conditions and needs of the parties and all the surrounding circumstances."
Carle, 149 Tex. at 474, 234 S.W.2d at 1005; see also Tedder v. Gardner Aldrich, LLP, No. 11-0767,
2013 WL 2150081, at *3-4 (Tex. May 17, 2013). Further, as in its decision to award fees as part of the
division, the trial court has broad discretion in determining the amount. Smith v. Grayson, No. 03-10-
00238-CV, 2011 WL 4924073, at *10 (Tex. App.-Oct. 12, 2011, pet. dism'd) (mem. op.) (citing Murff,
615 S.W.2d at 698-99).

Cynthia's trial counsel, George Parker, testified he had been licensed to practice law in Texas since
May 1976. He has been board certified in family law since 1985 and practices primarily in Collin County,
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Texas. He is familiar with the qualifications of the other attorneys in his firm and the hourly rates that
Cynthia contracted to pay in this case. In Parker's opinion, those rates are usual and customary in and
around Collin County for the type of work that has been done in the case. Further, the actions taken by
counsel on Cynthia's behalf had been necessary.

*387 In Parker's opinion, the fees in this case were reasonable. In reaching that opinion, Parker
considered that he had been retained late in the case and had to digest a lot of information in a short
period of time. Further, there were complicated issues surrounding the partnership interest and there
"have been some actions that have occurred through the time I've been representing [Cynthia] that
have complicated the property."

387

Parker testified three legal assistants had worked on the case. One of the legal assistants had been
with the firm for approximately twenty-two years and was "certified." A second legal assistant had been
with the firm for approximately ten years. In Parker's opinion, the tasks performed by the legal
assistants were reasonable and necessary and the hourly rate charged for their work was reasonable
and customary in and around Collin County.

Cynthia had incurred attorney's fees of $101,255 and had paid either $23,000 or $25,000 toward that
amount. Parker anticipated further work would be necessary to complete the case and estimated
another $5,000 in attorney's fees would be incurred by Cynthia. However, in closing argument, Parker
indicated Cynthia's attorney's fees were over $115,000, "just to us." The record also demonstrates that
counsel was required to perform a significant amount of work on the case after trial.

Daniel argues the evidence is insufficient to support the attorney's fee award because Cynthia's
attorney did not introduce evidence that the specific hourly rate charged by each attorney and legal
assistant was reasonable. Such specificity, however, is not required. In re W.M.R., No. 02-11-00283-
CV, 2012 WL 5356275, at *14 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth Nov. 1, 2012, no pet.) (mem. op.). Instead, "[t]o
support a request for reasonable attorney's fees, testimony should be given regarding the hours spent
on the case, the nature of preparation, complexity of the case, experience of the attorney, and the
prevailing hourly rates." Hardin v. Hardin, 161 S.W.3d 14, 24 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2004, no
pet.) (citing Goudeau v. Marquez, 830 S.W.2d 681, 683 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1992, no writ)).
The trial court does not need to hear evidence on each factor but can "look at the entire record, the
evidence presented on reasonableness, the amount in controversy, the common knowledge of the
participants as lawyers and judges, and the relative success of the parties." Hagedorn v. Tisdale, 73
S.W.3d 341, 353 (Tex.App.-Amarillo 2002, no pet.) (citing Chilton Ins. Co. v. Pate & Pate Enters., Inc.,
930 S.W.2d 877, 896 (Tex.App.-San Antonio 1996, writ denied)).

Parker's testimony reflected he was familiar with each attorney's and legal assistant's experience and
the novelty and difficulty of the issues in this case. In his opinion the hourly rates charged were
reasonable and customary for Collin County. See In re A.S.G., 345 S.W.3d 443, 451-52 (Tex.App.-San
Antonio 2011, no pet.) (attorney's testimony sufficient to support fee award even though she "did not
testify to her hourly rate or exact number of hours spent on the case, [but] she did specifically ask for
$1,500 in attorney's fees and explained to the trial court their necessity and reasonableness."). We
conclude Parker's testimony is a reasonable basis for the award of attorney's fees. See In re A.B.P.,
291 S.W.3d at 98-99 (concluding attorney's testimony that he believed his fees were reasonable and
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necessary, that he was familiar with the customary fees in the community, and that he believed his fees
fall within that range was sufficient for attorney's fee award); In re W.M.R., 2012 WL 5356275, at *14.

*388 On the record before us, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion by awarding
Cynthia a larger share of the "main assets" of the estate in order to compensate her for her attorney's
fees.

388

Other Alleged Valuation Errors

Daniel next contends the trial court erred in valuing the community estate because it failed to make
findings of fact as to the value of some assets, improperly valued some of the real estate, improperly
valued a model train collection, and included liquidated assets in the property awarded to Daniel
without doing so for Cynthia.

No Findings on Value

Daniel first argues the trial court lacked sufficient evidence to divide the marital estate because its
findings of fact and conclusions of law omit values for twenty-five assets and debts divided in the
decree. As set out above, when the value of an asset is not disputed, the trial court is not required to
make a finding of that asset's value. See TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.711(a); Jackson, 2011 WL
3373290, at *3. In his brief, Daniel does not argue that any of the listed assets had a disputed value.
Accordingly, Daniel has failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to make a
finding as to those assets' values.

Daniel next asserts the trial court's failure to make a finding as to the value of the parties' 2009 and
2010 tax liability "causes the division of net assets awarded to [Daniel] to be understated." However, as
set out above, the amount of the parties' tax liability was undisputed and, therefore, the trial court was
not required to make a finding as to the value of the liability. Further, there is nothing in the record to
demonstrate the trial court did not consider the undisputed value of the tax liability in making the
division of the community estate. See In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d at 857 ("A divorce court also has
authority and discretion to impose the entire tax liability of the parties on one spouse."). Finally, a trial
court can appropriately assign tax liability to one party or the other without knowing the exact amount of
that liability. See Kimsey v. Kimsey, 965 S.W.2d 690, 695 (Tex.App.-El Paso 1998, pet. denied)
(concluding appellate court could not determine whether there was manifest abuse of discretion by trial
court in dividing tax liability equally between parties when parties presented no evidence of amount of
potential tax liability); Mullins v. Mullins, 785 S.W.2d 5, 7-8 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1990, no writ)
(concluding trial court acted within its discretion in holding husband responsible for potential income tax
liability incurred during marriage); see also Young v. Young, 168 S.W.3d 276, 286 (Tex.App.-Dallas
2005, no pet.) (concluding trial court did not err by assigning responsibility for couples' income tax
liability to husband where evidence indicated he had failed to report certain income of company found
to be husband's alter ego). Consequently, Daniel has not demonstrated the trial court abused its
discretion by dividing the community estate without evidence establishing specific amounts for the
parties' 2009 and 2010 tax liabilities. See Quijano, 347 S.W.3d at 352.
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Daniel also asserts the trial court erred by failing to value the reward miles and points awarded to
Cynthia. The trial court awarded to Cynthia (1) the Starwood miles and/or points, (2) the American
Express air miles and/or points, and (3) all airline miles and/or points in Cynthia's name. The trial court
awarded Daniel all air miles not awarded to Cynthia. In its findings of fact, the trial court determined the
following reward miles or points were assets of the community estate: (1) American *389 Airlines miles in
Cynthia's name (66,937), (2) Southwest Airlines miles in Cynthia's name (no amount), (3) Starwood
points (144,867), (4) American Express Membership points (283,047), (5) Visa Celebrity miles in
Cynthia's name (13,201), (6) Visa Edge miles in Cynthia's name (0), (7) Visa Chase miles in Cynthia's
and Daniel's names (0), (8) Sears miles in Cynthia's name (23,906), (9) American Airlines miles in
Daniel's name (177,461), (10) Southwest Airlines miles in Daniel's name (no amount), (11) Delta
Airlines miles in Daniel's name (12,439), (12) Hyatt Points in Daniel's name (0), (13) Hilton Points in
Daniel's name (6,436), (14) Marriott Points in Daniel's name (112,709), (15) and Visa Chase Atlas
points in Daniel's name (253,010). The first eight categories were awarded to Cynthia and total
531,958 miles and/or points. Categories (9) through (15) were awarded to Daniel and total 565,055
miles and/or points.

389

The trial court awarded Daniel over fifty percent of the reward miles and/or points and there was no
evidence that any particular program was more valuable than another. See Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d at
887; Sereno, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2. On this record, Daniel has failed to establish the trial court
abused its discretion by not placing a value on the reward miles and/or points awarded to Cynthia.

Daniel finally argues the trial court erred by awarding the contents of Cynthia's safety deposit box to
her without evidence of the value of the contents of the box. Cynthia testified the safety deposit box
contained her rings and other gifts from Daniel. Neither Cynthia nor Daniel testified about the value of
the items in the safety deposit box. Accordingly, Daniel has waived his right to complain of the trial
court's lack of information in dividing the contents of the safety deposit box. Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d at
887; Sereno, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2

On this record, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion by failing to make a specific
finding of the value of any of the complained-about assets and liabilities.

Real Estate

Daniel contends the trial court overvalued the real estate awarded to him and undervalued the real
estate awarded to Cynthia. Daniel specifically complains the tax appraisals relied upon by Cynthia
cannot be used to determine the fair market value of real estate and, even if the tax appraisals
constituted some evidence of the value of the property, they are factually insufficient to support the trial
court's findings.

The trial court awarded the marital residence in Piano to Daniel and a rental property in Richardson to
Cynthia. Cynthia offered records from taxing authorities showing the appraised value of the two houses.
The trial court initially sustained Daniel's hearsay objections to the records. However, the tax appraisal
for the Piano house was admitted into evidence without objection during the cross-examination of
Daniel's expert witness and showed a value for the Piano house of $471,754. Cynthia testified without
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objection that she used the information from the tax appraisal districts to "at least partially" form the
basis for her opinion concerning the value of the properties. Cynthia believed the value of the Piano
house was the tax appraised value of $471,754 and the value of the Richardson house was the tax
appraised value of $132,970.

Daniel called Russell Nickell, a residential appraiser, to testify about the value of the two houses. In
conducting an appraisal, Nickell reviews the tax records and the tax assessments as well as sales of
comparable *390 properties. In Nickell's opinion, a tax assessment is generally a lagging indicator of a
house's value. However, the taxing authorities are more accurate now than they were historically
because the appraisals are done annually. In Nickell's opinion, sometimes the tax assessments are
accurate and sometimes they are not accurate. Nickell agreed that the taxing authorities do not always
agree with his appraisals.

390

Nickell used a sales comparison approach to appraise the two houses. According to Nickell, the Piano
house's value is $418,000 and the Richardson house's value is $166,000. In conducting his analysis,
Nickell gave the Piano house a fair to average rating. If, however, the house was in average condition,
the value could increase by $50,000. Nickell agreed the Piano house was not in a condition to "show" at
the time he appraised it.

In its findings of fact, the trial court valued the Piano house at $471,754 and the Richardson house at
$132,970. Relying on Kuehn v. Kuehn, 594 S.W.2d 158 (Tex. App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 1980, no writ),
Daniel asserts the evidence is insufficient to support the trial court's findings.

In Kuehn, the Houston Fourteenth Court of Appeals concluded the value placed on real estate for
taxation purposes without the participation of the owner could not be used to determine the fair market
value of the property. Id. at 161. The court based its opinion on the fact the appraisals were hearsay
and could not support a finding of fact. Id. (citing Perkins v. Springstun, 557 S.W.2d 343, 345
(Tex.Civ.App.-Austin 1977, writ ref'd n.r.e.) (hearsay evidence admitted without objection has no
probative value)). However, both Kuehn and Perkins were decided before the adoption of the Texas
Rules of Evidence. Rule of evidence 802 now provides that unobjected-to hearsay shall not be denied
probative value merely because it is hearsay. TEX.R. EVID. 802; see also City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at
812 n. 29. Here, the tax appraisal for the Piano house and Cynthia's testimony about the tax appraisal
for both houses was admitted without objection and, therefore, could constitute some probative
evidence on which the trial court could have relied. See Smith, 2011 WL 4924073, at *11.

Further, this is not a case in which the only evidence supporting the trial court's finding is the tax
appraisal. An owner may testify about the market value of her property. Gulf States Util. Co. v. Low, 79
S.W.3d 561, 566 (Tex.2002); Porras v. Craig, 675 S.W.2d 503, 504-05 (Tex. 1984). For several years,
Cynthia had been engaged in "flipping" houses, which involved buying, remodeling, and then selling a
house. She had bought and sold approximately eight houses. Although she relied, in part, on the tax
appraisals in reaching an opinion as to the value of the two houses at issue, she was familiar with the
market value of houses in the area and was qualified to express her opinion concerning the value of
those houses.

Daniel also argues that, in the face of Nickell's testimony, the evidence of the tax appraisals on the
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houses is factually insufficient to support the trial court's findings. The value of a community asset on
which there is disputed evidence is a question of fact. See TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.711(a)(2). As the
trier of fact, it was role of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses, weigh the testimony,
accept or reject any testimony, and resolve conflicts in the evidence. Dewalt v. Dewalt, No. 14-06-
00938-CV, 2008 WL 1747481, at *2 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] Apr. 17, 2008, no pet.) (mem. op.)
(citing City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 819); *391 see also Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 700. We "will not disturb a
trial court's resolution of conflicting evidence that turns on the credibility or weight of the evidence."
Ennis v. Loiseau, 164 S.W.3d 698, 706 (Tex. App.-Austin 2005, no pet.) (citing Benoit v. Wilson, 150
Tex. 273, 281, 239 S.W.2d 792, 796 (Tex.1951)). As long as the evidence falls "within [the] zone of
reasonable disagreement," we cannot substitute our judgment for that of the fact finder. See City of
Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 822.

391

The trial court heard the conflicting opinions on the value of the houses, rejected Nickell's opinion, and
accepted Cynthia's opinion of the value of both houses. On the record before us, we conclude that the
evidence of the houses' values was legally and factually sufficient, and in light of the broad discretion
vested in the trial court in dividing the property of parties in a divorce, we cannot say that the trial court
abused its discretion in its valuation of the Piano and Richardson houses. See id.; Smith, 2011 WL
4924073, at *11.

Train Collection

Daniel next contends the trial court's valuation of a model train collection was improperly based on
acquisition value. Cynthia testified that Daniel budgeted $200 per month for the purchase of trains
during the entire marriage. Daniel testified he did not spend his entire budget every month purchasing
trains. He also testified that part of the collection had been sold for $1,700, but offered no other
evidence of the collection's value. The trial court valued the collection at $8,800. Because Daniel failed
to offer any evidence of the train collection's value, he waived his right to complain on appeal about the
trial court's valuation of the property. Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d at 887; Sereno, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2

Liquidated Assets

Daniel also complains the trial court "recaptured" assets that Daniel liquidated by awarding them to
Daniel without doing the same for assets that Cynthia liquidated. According to Daniel, Cynthia operated
on a cash basis in 2009 and withdrew a large amount of money from the joint bank account and from a
retirement fund. Cynthia admitted she made cash withdrawals from the joint bank account in 2009, but
testified the money was used to purchase and repair two houses and that she provided invoices to
support the withdrawals. After one of the houses was sold, she used the sales proceeds to pay
community debt incurred to rehabilitate the property and then placed the remaining funds into the joint
bank account. The other house remained a community asset. Cynthia testified that, at some point in the
divorce proceedings, she was "strongly encouraged" by the trial court to withdraw money from a
retirement account to pay her attorney's fees. She also withdrew money from community accounts in
2010 to pay her living expenses after Daniel stopped transferring money into the joint bank account
and canceled her credit cards. Cynthia denied liquidating any other community assets.
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Trial began on April 18, 2011 and was recessed until June 29, 2011. In violation of the trial court's
standing order, Daniel liquidated a number of assets, including bank stock warrants, antique cars, part
of the model train collection, and part of a retirement account shortly before trial recommenced. Some
of the cars were sold to Daniel's friends and family members and some were sold at a loss. Further, in
Cynthia's opinion, the bank stock warrants would have been much more valuable in the future than they
were when Daniel sold them. Daniel admitted the trial court had not given him permission to liquidate
*392 any of the assets. Daniel testified that he used the money to pay attorney's fees, repay loans from
his brothers, pay the taxes owed due to the parties' withdrawals from retirement accounts, and for living
expenses. Daniel admitted he "missed" that at least some taxes had already been withheld when
Cynthia withdrew money from one of the retirement funds. Further, some of the attorney's fees paid by
Daniel were incurred pursuing Daniel's claims against GP Holdings. The trial court awarded any
remaining community interest in the assets liquidated by Daniel to Daniel.

392

The trial court heard evidence that the only assets liquidated by Cynthia were to pay her living
expenses and, at the trial court's encouragement, her attorney fees. Daniel, on the other hand,
admitted to having liquidated a number of assets during trial without the trial court's permission, did not
establish the assets were sold for market value, and did not fully account for the proceeds from the
sales. On this record, we cannot conclude that trial court abused its discretion by awarding the assets
liquidated by Daniel to him. See Schlueter, 975 S.W.2d at 588 (noting one spouse should not suffer just
because other spouse has depleted the community estate).

Adultery

Daniel next contends the trial court's finding of adultery does not support a disproportionate division of
property because his relationship with Alvarez began after the parties separated and did not constitute
fault that caused the breakup of the marriage. As we set out above, adultery does not have to occur
pre-separation for it to be a ground for granting a divorce. See Ayala, 387 S.W.3d at 732; Bell, 540
S.W.2d at 435. Generally, in a fault-based divorce, the trial court may consider the conduct of the
errant spouse in making a disproportionate distribution of the marital estate. See Young v. Young, 609
S.W.2d 758, 761-62 (Tex.1980); Ohendalski v. Ohendalski, 203 S.W.3d 910, 914 (Tex.App.-Beaumont
2006, no pet.). Accordingly, the trial court's finding of adultery can support the disproportionate division
of the community property.

Unreasonable Division of Property

Daniel next complains the trial court's disproportionate award to Cynthia is not supported by the
applicable factors. A trial court may consider various factors in making a property division. See Murff,
615 S.W.2d at 699. In its findings of fact, the trial court stated that, in dividing the marital property, it
considered: (1) fault in the breakup of the marriage, (2) fraud on the community, (3) benefits the
innocent spouse may have derived from the continuation of the marriage, (4) disparity of earning power
of the spouses and their ability to support themselves, (5) health of the spouses, (6) education and
future employability of the spouses, (7) community indebtedness and liabilities, (8) tax consequences of
the division of property, (9) ages of the spouses, (10) earning power, business opportunities, capacities
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and abilities of the spouses, (11) nature of the property involved in the division, (12) wasting of
community assets by the spouses, (13) credit for temporary support paid by a spouse, (14) misconduct,
including violation of the court's standing order, (15) attorney's fees to be paid, (16) the size and nature
of the separate estates of the spouses, and (17) creation of community property by the efforts or lack
thereof of the spouses.

This record establishes a number of circumstances that justify awarding a disproportionate share of the
community estate to Cynthia. First, a disparity in the financial condition and earning capacities *393 of
the parties is an important factor in dividing their estate. Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Phillips v. Phillips, 75
S.W.3d 564, 574 (Tex.App.-Beaumont 2002, no pet.). Cynthia has a bachelor's degree in marketing
and, when she married Daniel, was a marketing manager at Sprint. Daniel had bachelor's degrees in
accounting and finance and economics and a master's degree in accounting. In 1998, Daniel started
his own consulting business and, in October 2001, Cynthia accepted a severance package from Sprint
and began working as an "administrative arm" of Daniel's business. Daniel's business subsequently
merged into GP Holdings and, as the business became more successful, Cynthia's services were no
longer needed. In 2008, Daniel earned more than $600,000 from the partnership.

393

Although Daniel testified at trial that his business reputation had been tarnished and he was unable to
obtain any clients, he testified at his deposition that he was confident he would have a number of clients
as soon as a covenant not to compete with Atlas Service Link expired. Further, in the Fall of 2010,
Daniel began performing work as a consultant through Intel McAfee. Daniel grossed approximately
$145,000 in 2010 and had grossed between $60,000 and $80,000 during the first half of 2011. Daniel
agreed that he also formed a new business entity in April 2010 and performed some consulting work
through that entity. Although he failed to provide information on that entity through discovery, he
claimed all money he had been paid was deposited into his checking account and that he produced
that information in discovery.

By 2009, Cynthia was engaged in flipping houses. However, she was prevented from pursuing this
career in 2010 due to Daniel's ceasing to provide support and cancelling her credit cards. Cynthia
testified she never made more than $80,000 per year flipping houses. According to Cynthia, she
"stunted the growth" of her company and her career to assist Daniel in building his company. Daniel
then lost his company due to "his bad behavior," and Daniel's "bad financial decisions" were affecting
Cynthia. Cynthia believed Daniel had greater earning potential than she did and that she did not have
the same ability as Daniel to pay her debt. Cynthia asked to be made as "liquid" as possible so that she
could resume flipping houses and have assets with which to pay her living expenses.

Second, the trial court could consider fault in the breakup of the marriage in dividing the community
estate. Young, 609 S.W.2d at 762. Cynthia testified that, even though she moved out of the marital
home, she hoped the parties would reconcile. She sought counseling to assist her and invited Daniel to
attend. Daniel did not meaningfully participate in counseling, and the counselor ultimately told Cynthia
the marriage was a "lost cause." In June 2009, Cynthia began to suspect Daniel was committing
adultery. In September 2009, Cynthia saw a woman's underwear in the master bedroom of the marital
home, and a private investigator filmed Daniel and Alvarez kissing and hugging at an airport. Daniel,
however, represented to the trial court that his relationship with Alvarez did not begin until later, a
statement the trial court could have found not to be credible.



4/7/2014 In re Marriage of CAS and DPS, 405 SW 3d 373 - Tex: Court of Appeals, 5th Dist. 2013 - Google Scholar

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14991731854018199797&q=405+S.W.3d+373&hl=en&as_sdt=4,44 16/19

Third, a court may consider one spouse's wrongful dissipation of community assets when dividing a
marital estate. See Schlueter, 975 S.W.2d at 588-89. Throughout 2010, Daniel expended community
assets on trips to see Alvarez in Milwaukee, on trips with Alvarez to the Bahamas and to Europe, and on
gifts to Alvarez. Daniel testified that Alvarez reimbursed him for the gifts and that many *394 of the trips
to Milwaukee and to Europe were related to seeking work and were often reimbursed. Cynthia,
however, testified that she would receive none of the benefit for expenditures that Daniel made to look
for work and to build relationships for future work. Daniel also sold a number of community assets after
the trial started, some to friends and family. It was unclear whether the assets were sold for fair market
value, and Daniel did not fully account for the proceeds from the sales.

394

Fourth, the trial court could consider misconduct during the divorce proceedings. There was evidence
Daniel sold community assets in violation of the trial court's standing order. Further, Cynthia attempted
to depose Daniel during the divorce proceedings. Daniel canceled the first deposition on the day it was
scheduled, claiming he was too ill to attend. However, Alvarez flew to Dallas later that day and spent the
weekend with Daniel at various places in Dallas and Fort Worth. Daniel's second deposition was
scheduled on a Monday. He canceled the deposition on the previous Friday, again claiming he was too
ill to attend. Daniel, however, flew to Milwaukee that weekend and did not return to Dallas until after the
time his deposition was scheduled to begin. Cynthia testified she incurred attorney's fees due to
Daniel's actions.

Finally, a court may consider payments made to attorneys from the community estate. Roever v.
Roever, 824 S.W.2d 674, 676 (Tex.App.-Dallas 1992, no writ). Both parties had paid attorney's fees
from community assets. However, Cynthia received permission from the trial court to liquidate
community assets to pay the fees, while Daniel did not. There was also evidence that Daniel spent
community funds on attorney's fees to pursue a claim against his former partnership. Finally, Cynthia
testified that she incurred fees due to Daniel's conduct during the divorce proceedings, including
Daniel's failure to appear at scheduled depositions and failure to completely respond to Cynthia's
discovery requests.

On this record, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion by making a disproportionate
award of the marital property to Cynthia.

Casteel-Type Error

Daniel next argues the trial court committed Casteel-type error by weighing factors in the property
division for which there was no supporting evidence or pleadings. Daniel specifically asserts that
Cynthia did not plead that a disproportionate division of the property was justified based on fraud on
the community, health of the spouses, and the ages of the spouses.

The supreme court has held that reversible error is presumed when a broad-form question submitted to
the jury incorporates multiple theories of liability and one or more of those theories is invalid, Crown Life
Ins. Co. v. Casteel, 22 S.W.3d 378, 388 (Tex.2000), or when the broad-form question commingles
damage elements that are unsupported by legally sufficient evidence, Harris Cnty. v. Smith, 96 S.W.3d
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230, 233-34 (Tex.2002). See also Thota v. Young, 366 S.W.3d 678, 680 (Tex.2012). Without deciding
whether Casteel or Harris County is applicable to a trial court's application of relevant factors in
determining the division of a marital estate, we note the San Antonio Court of Appeals has concluded
that in order to preserve Casteel-type error in a bench trial, the party must request additional or
amended findings of fact that specifically draw the trial court's attention to the complaint that one of the
elements of damages included in the trial court's broad-form finding was unsupported by the evidence.
Tagle v. Galvan, *395 155 S.W.3d 510, 516 (Tex.App.-San Antonio 2004, no pet.); see also Miranda v.
Byles, 390 S.W.3d 543, 552 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 2012, pet. filed) (op. on reh'g) (to preserve
error in bench trial, party must request additional findings of fact and conclusions of law asking for
detailed apportionment of findings between permissible and impermissible bases for liability). We have
concluded that Daniel failed to timely request additional findings of fact from the trial court. Accordingly,
Daniel has failed to preserve this complaint for our review. See Tagle, 155 S.W.3d at 516.

395

Failure to Divide and Award Unliquidated Assets

Daniel next complains the trial court failed to divide the community's interest in GP Holdings that
exceeded the money in the capital account. However, the trial court awarded Cynthia:

One Hundred percent (100%) of the community interest in and to GP Holdings Partnership,
a Texas general partnership, including, but not limited to any community interest in and to
Atlas Service Link, LLC, or the transmutations, if any, of said partnership or said LLC,
including but not limited to, any capital account held by said partnership or said LLC in the
name of or for the benefit of Daniel P. Silvey, valuing said capital account as it existed as
the time of the failed mediation on October 18, 2010.

We conclude the trial court awarded Cynthia all the community interest in the partnership.

Punitive Division

Daniel argues the property division is punitive and unjust and that punishing him for refusing to settle
his claim against the partnership is an impermissible basis for the property division. In support of his
argument, Daniel relies only on the trial court's valuing the capital account as of the time of the
mediation. As discussed above, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by relying on evidence from
the time of the mediation to value the capital account. Further, we see nothing in the record that
indicates the trial court's property division was based solely on Daniel's refusal to settle his claim
against the partnership. We conclude Daniel failed to establish the trial court's division of the property
was punitive. See Halleman v. Halleman, 379 S.W.3d 443, 453 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 2012, no pet.)
(overruling appellant's complaint trial court used property division to punish her because reasonable
basis supported disproportionate property division).

Cumulative Error
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Daniel finally argues the trial court's cumulative errors in making the property division require reversal.
Based on this record, we have concluded the trial court did not err in dividing the marital property.
Accordingly, there is no cumulative error that would require reversal of the property division.

Conclusion

The trial court had "the opportunity to observe the parties on the witness stand, determine their
credibility, evaluate their needs and potentials, both social and economic." Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 700.
We conclude the record contains evidence of a substantive and probative character to support the trial
court's division of the community property. Further, based on the record before us, we cannot say that

the trial court either clearly abused its discretion or made an inequitable division of marital assets.[6]

Therefore, we will not *396 disturb the trial court's judgment regarding the property division. We resolve
Daniel's first issue against him.

396

We affirm the trial court's judgment.

[1] Justice Mary Murphy w as on the panel and participated at the submission of this case but, due to her retirement from this Court on
June 7, 2013, did not participate in the issuance of this Opinion. See TEX.R.APP. P. 41.1(a), (b).

[2] Daniel's complaints are directed tow ard the f indings of fact and conclusions of law  made by the trial court on November 14, 2011.
Daniel does not complain about the trial court's failure to enter f indings of fact and conclusions of law  after the amended divorce
decree w as signed on January 26, 2012. Further, in his February 16, 2012 request for f indings of fact and conclusions of law  filed
after the amended judgment, Daniel did not request specif ied additional f indings and, therefore, failed to meet the requirements for a
request for additional f indings. See TEX.R. CIV. P. 298; Heard v. City of Dallas, 456 S.W.2d 440, 445 (Tex.Civ.App.-Dallas, 1970, w rit
ref 'd n.r.e.) (op. on reh'g); Vickery v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline, 5 S.W.3d 241, 255-56 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 1999, pet.
denied)

[3] See Goodfellow v. Goodfellow, No. 03-01-00633-CV, 2002 WL 31769028, at *8 (Tex. App.-Austin, Dec. 12, 2002, no pet.) (not
designated for publication).

[4] Cynthia initially requested she be aw arded $658,000 from the capital account. The trial court found Cynthia had outstanding
attorney's fees of $164,028.92. Therefore, Daniel contends, the total amount that could have been aw arded to Cynthia from the capital
account w as $822,000. How ever, Cynthia testif ied she had also paid attorney's fees to both her former and trial counsel and
requested the trial court order Daniel to pay those fees as w ell. See Grossnickle, 935 S.W.2d at 847 (prior payments out of the
community estate to attorneys in the divorce action are to be taken into account in the division of the marital estate); see also Tucker v.
Tucker, No. 13-11-00056-CV, 2013 WL 268937, at *11 (Tex.App.-Corpus Christi Jan. 24, 2013, no pet. h.) (memo. op).

[5] The trial court found that Cynthia ow ed $44,038.92 to her former attorney, w ho had intervened in the divorce proceeding seeking
the unpaid fees, and $120,000 to her trial attorney. On appeal, Daniel has complained only about the f inding that Cynthia ow ed
$120,000 to her trial attorney.

[6] Because w e review  each case on its merits, the division of marital estates in other cases does not control our disposition of
Daniel's issues. How ever, w e note that similar divisions of marital estates have been upheld on appeal in similar circumstances. See
Rafidi v. Rafidi, 718 S.W.2d 43, 45-46 (Tex.App.-Dallas 1986, no w rit) (85-90% of marital estate to w ife); Morrison v. Morrison, 713
S.W.2d 377, 379 (Tex.App.-Dallas 1986, w rit dism'd) (83.5%); Ohendalski, 203 S.W.3d at 914-15(81%); Faram v. Gervitz-Faram, 895
S.W.2d 839, 844 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1995, no pet.) (72.9%); Golias v. Golias, 861 S.W.2d 401, 403 (Tex.App.-Beaumont 1993, no
w rit) (79%); Oliver v. Oliver, 741 S.W.2d 225, 228-29 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1987, no w rit) (80%); Huls v. Huls, 616 S.W.2d 312, 317-
18 (Tex.Civ.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1981, no w rit) (85%).
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Before Justices LANG-MIERS and FILLMORE.[1]

*379 OPINION379

Opinion by Justice FILLMORE.

Daniel Silvey (Daniel) appeals from a divorce decree dissolving the marriage between him and Cynthia
Silvey (Cynthia). In three issues, Daniel argues the trial court erred in dividing the marital property, by
granting the divorce on fault grounds, and by failing to make sufficient findings of fact. We affirm the
trial court's judgment.

Background

Daniel and Cynthia married in 1999 and separated on March 23, 2009 when Cynthia moved out of the
marital home. Cynthia filed for divorce in August 2009 alleging irreconcilable differences but, shortly
before trial, filed an amended petition asserting Daniel had committed adultery and seeking a
disproportionate share of the community estate. The property division issues were tried to the bench
over the course of four nonconsecutive days between April and July 2011.

On July 6, 2011, the trial court sent a letter to the parties stating the divorce was granted on fault
grounds and setting out the division of the marital property. On July 22, 2011, Daniel filed a request for
findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to rules of civil procedure 296 and 297 and, on August
1, 2011, filed a supplemental request for findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to section
6.711 of the family code. Daniel filed a motion for new trial on August 5, 2011, a notice of past due
findings of fact and conclusions of law on August 12, 2011, and a notice of appeal on October 3, 2011.
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On October 13, 2011, the trial court signed a final decree of divorce that specifically divided certain of
the community assets and liabilities and ordered that any of the community assets not specifically
divided would be divided through alternate selection by Cynthia and Daniel. On November 14, 2011,
the trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to section 6.711 of the family code
and rules of civil procedure 296 and 297. The trial court found that Daniel had committed adultery and
that the divorce was granted on that basis. The trial court also found that Daniel "made a game of this
divorce. On the surface it appears that he has made a game of the dissolution of his business, and
such conduct on his part constitutes a `mockery of the judicial system.'" The trial court valued a number
of the specifically divided assets, as well as some of the assets that were to be divided by alternate
selection. Our review of the trial court's findings indicates the marital assets that were specifically
divided and valued by the trial court equal $1,646,683.10. Cynthia was awarded $1,334,958.10, or
eighty-one percent, of these assets, and Daniel was awarded $311,735.00, or nineteen percent, of
these assets. The trial court also listed the factors it considered in making a just and right division of
the community estate.

On December 12, 2011, Daniel requested the trial court make additional findings, asserting his counsel
had not been notified of the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law until December 3, 2011.
Daniel specifically requested the trial court make findings as to:

A. Whether adultery of [Daniel] was at fault for causing the break up of the parties'
marriage.

B. Whether the marriage became insupportable because of discord or conflict of
personalities that destroyed the legitimate ends of the marital relationship and prevented
any reasonable expectation of reconciliation.

*380 C. Whether any conduct of [Daniel] as alleged in paragraph 9 of [Cynthia's] Second
Amended Petition for Divorce supports the award of a disproportionate share of the
community estate in favor of Cynthia.

380

Daniel specifically requested nineteen additional findings relating to these three subjects.

On January 26, 2012, the trial court signed an amended decree of divorce that did not change the
division of community property, but awarded Daniel certain property as his separate property. On
February 15, 2012, Daniel again requested findings of fact and conclusions of law and, on March 14,
2012, filed a notice of past due findings of fact and conclusions of law. The trial court did not make any
additional findings or conclusions.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

In his third issue, Daniel contends the trial court erred by failing to make sufficient findings of fact, by

failing to timely mail its findings to counsel, and by failing to make additional findings.[2]

Daniel first asserts the trial court's findings failed to comply with section 6.711(a) of the family code
because the findings "omit evaluation findings for a third of the items divided in the decree, including
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significantly, [Daniel's] tax liability." Daniel's brief contains no further argument pertinent to this
complaint, and we question whether it had been adequately briefed. See TEX.R.APP. P. 38.1(h), (i).
However, we will address the complaint as to the tax liability, the only specific asset or liability raised by
Daniel on appeal.

Section 6.711(a) of the family code provides that in a suit for dissolution of marriage, on request by a
party, the court shall state in writing its findings of fact and conclusions of law concerning (1) the
characterization of each party's assets, liabilities, claims, and offsets on which disputed evidence has
been presented, and (2) the value or amount of the community estate's assets, liabilities, claims, and
offsets on which disputed evidence has been presented. TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.711(a) (West
2006). The trial court apportioned the parties' 2009 and 2010 tax liability to Daniel. As to the tax liability,
Daniel testified he estimated the tax liability for 2009 was $40,000 and for 2010 was $20,000. Cynthia
testified she had been told there was a tax debt for 2009 and 2010, but had not been provided any
documents to substantiate that claim. Based on the check register, Cynthia believed $240,000 had
been paid toward the 2009 tax liability and that there was an additional $75,000 credit carried forward
from the 2008 tax return to be applied to the 2009 tax liability. Daniel agreed that approximately
$300,000 had been paid toward the 2009 tax liability. Because the amount of the tax liability was
undisputed, the trial court was not required to make a finding as to the amount. See TEX. FAM.CODE
ANN. § 6.711(a); Jackson v. Jackson, No. 03-10-00736-CV, 2011 *381 WL 3373290, at *3 (Tex.App.-
Austin Aug. 3, 2011, no pet.) (mem. op.).

381

Daniel next contends the trial court erred by failing to timely mail its November 14, 2011 findings to
Daniel's counsel and by failing to make additional findings as requested by Daniel on December 12,
2011. Daniel argues the original findings fail to (1) state whether the trial court found that adultery
caused the dissolution of the marriage or related to pre-or post-separation conduct, (2) state the basis
for the trial court's award to Cynthia of more property than she requested, and (3) contained no
explanation for the trial court's "harsh rebuke" that Daniel had made a game of the divorce and the
dissolution of his business and that his conduct constituted a "mockery of our judicial system." Daniel
asserts he is "left guessing" as to the basis for the trial court's ruling and cannot adequately address
the findings on appeal. Daniel's complaints necessarily relate to the trial court's failure to make
additional findings pursuant to rule of civil procedure 298. See Moore v. Moore, 383 S.W.3d 190, 200-
01 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2012, pet. denied) (recognizing distinction between findings of fact under section
6.711 of the family code and findings of fact under rules of civil procedure).

Rule of civil procedure 298 provides that, after a trial court files original findings of fact and conclusions
of law, "any party may file with the clerk of the court a request for specified additional or amended
findings or conclusions. The request for these findings shall be made within ten days after the filing of
the original findings and conclusions by the court." TEX.R. CIV. P. 298. When a party makes an
untimely request for additional findings and conclusions, the party waives the right to complain on
appeal of the trial court's refusal to enter the additional findings or conclusions. Edgewater Seed
Market v. Magnolia Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 11-07-00136-CV, 2008 WL 4512851, at *2 (Tex.App.-
Eastland Oct. 9, 2008, no pet.) (mem. op.); Cities Servs. Co. v. Ellison, 698 S.W.2d 387, 390 (Tex.App.-
Houston [14th Dist.] 1985, writ ref'd n.r.e.). In this case, Daniel failed to file his request for additional
findings of fact and conclusions of law within ten days after the trial court signed the original findings of
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fact and conclusions of law. Although Daniel claims he was prevented from making a timely request for
additional findings by the trial court's failure to provide timely notice of the filing of the findings of fact
and conclusions of law, he did not obtain a ruling from the trial court as to the date he received notice.
See TEX.R. CIV. P. 306a; Florance v. State, 352 S.W.3d 867, 873 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2011, no pet.).
Other than Daniel's contention in his request for the additional findings that he had not received notice
of the original findings, the record is silent as to when either Daniel or his counsel was notified of the
filing of the findings and conclusions.

Daniel had the burden to preserve any error in the trial court. See TEX.R.APP. P. 33.1(a). His recitation
in his request for additional findings and in his brief that he did not receive notice of the findings of fact

and conclusions of law is not sufficient to preserve error.[3] We cannot conclude Daniel preserved his
right to complain on appeal about the trial court's failure to make the additional findings.

Further, even if Daniel had preserved this issue for appeal, we conclude he has not shown the trial
court abused its discretion by failing to enter the requested additional findings. Additional findings *382

are not required if the original findings and conclusions properly and succinctly relate the ultimate
findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary to apprise the party of information adequate for the
preparation of the party's appeal. Pakdimounivong v. City of Arlington, 219 S.W.3d 401, 412 (Tex.App.-
Fort Worth 2006, pet. denied). An ultimate fact is one that would have a direct effect on the judgment.
Id. There is no reversible error if the refusal to file additional findings does not prevent a party from
adequately presenting an argument on appeal. Id. The controlling issue is whether the circumstances
of the particular case require the party to guess at the reasons for the trial court's decision. White v.
Harris-White, No. 01-07-00521-CV, 2009 WL 1493015, at *6 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] May 28,
2009, pet. denied) (mem. op. on reh'g).

382

The ultimate issue in this case is the just and right division of the estate. See id. at *5. The trial court
divided the marital property and made findings of fact and conclusions of law involving the court's
jurisdiction over the parties, the assets and liabilities of the marital estate, Daniel's adultery, Daniel's
conduct during the litigation, and other factors the trial court considered in determining a just and right
division of the estate. The additional findings requested by Daniel related to (1) whether Daniel's
adultery was at fault in the breakup of the marriage, and (2) the factors the trial court considered in
dividing the community estate. However, the trial court had already granted the divorce based on fault
and found that Daniel had committed adultery. Further, the trial court was not required to make findings
regarding the factors it considered in dividing the estate. See Wallace v. Wallace, 623 S.W.2d 723, 726
(Tex.Civ.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1981, writ dism'd).

We conclude the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are sufficiently specific to allow
Daniel to present his complaints on appeal and, accordingly, Daniel was not harmed by the trial court's
failure to make the requested additional findings. We resolve Daniel's third issue against him.

Standard of Review

In his first and second issues, Daniel argues the trial court erred in the division of the marital estate and
by granting the divorce on fault grounds. We review both of these issues under an abuse of discretion



4/7/2014 In re Marriage of CAS and DPS, 405 SW 3d 373 - Tex: Court of Appeals, 5th Dist. 2013 - Google Scholar

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14991731854018199797&q=405+S.W.3d+373&hl=en&as_sdt=4,44 5/19

standard. See In re A.B.P., 291 S.W.3d 91, 95 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2009, no pet.) (most appealable issues
in family law cases are evaluated for abuse of discretion). A trial court abuses its discretion when it acts
arbitrarily or unreasonably, or without any reference to guiding rules and principles. Worford v.
Stamper, 801 S.W.2d 108, 109 (Tex.1990); see also Gonzalez v. Gonzalez, 331 S.W.3d 864, 866
(Tex.App.-Dallas 2011, no pet).

A trial court's findings are reviewable for legal and factual sufficiency of the evidence under the same
standards that are applied in reviewing evidence supporting a jury's answer. Moroch v. Collins, 174
S.W.3d 849, 857 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2005, pet. denied). In evaluating a legal sufficiency challenge, we
credit evidence that supports the finding if a reasonable fact finder could, and disregard contrary
evidence unless a reasonable fact finder could not. City of Keller v. Wilson, 168 S.W.3d 802, 827
(Tex.2005); Newberry v. Newberry, 351 S.W.3d 552, 555 (Tex.App.-El Paso 2011, no pet.). The test for
legal sufficiency is "whether the evidence at trial would enable reasonable and fair-minded people to
reach the verdict under review." City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 827. In a factual sufficiency review, we
examine all the evidence *383 in the record, both supporting and contrary to the trial court's finding, and
reverse only if the finding is so against the great weight of the evidence as to be clearly wrong and
unjust. Ortiz v. Jones, 917 S.W.2d 770, 772 (Tex.1996) (per curiam); Newberry, 351 S.W.3d at 555-56.

383

In family law cases, legal and factual sufficiency challenges do not constitute independent grounds for
asserting error, but are relevant factors in determining whether the trial court abused its discretion.
Moore, 383 S.W.3d at 198. To determine whether the trial court abused its discretion because the
evidence is legally or factually insufficient to support the trial court's decision, we consider whether the
trial court (1) had sufficient evidence upon which to exercise its discretion, and (2) erred in its
application of that discretion. Moroch, 174 S.W.3d at 857. We conduct the applicable sufficiency review
when considering the first prong of the test. Id. We then determine whether, based on the elicited
evidence, the trial court made a reasonable decision. Id. A trial court does not abuse its discretion if
there is some evidence of a substantive and probative character to support the decision. Id.

Fault

In his second issue, Daniel argues the trial court erred by granting the divorce on fault grounds
because the evidence is legally and factually insufficient to establish adultery caused the marriage to
fail. A trial court "may grant a divorce in favor of one spouse if the other spouse has committed
adultery." TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.003 (West 2006). Adultery means the "voluntary sexual
intercourse of a married person with one not the spouse." In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d 853, 856 (Tex.App.-
Dallas 2009, no pet.); see also Ayala v. Ayala, 387 S.W.3d 721, 733 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.]
2011, no pet.). Adultery is not limited to actions committed before the parties separated. Ayala, 387
S.W.3d at 733; Bell v. Bell, 540 S.W.2d 432, 435 (Tex.Civ.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1976, no writ).
Adultery can be shown by direct or circumstantial evidence. In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d at 856; Newberry,
351 S.W.3d at 556. However, there must be clear and positive proof and mere suggestion and
innuendo are insufficient. In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d at 856.

Cynthia testified that, after she moved out of the marital residence, she hoped that she and Daniel
would reconcile and she asked Daniel to participate in counseling. However, Daniel failed to participate
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meaningfully in counseling, and the counselor eventually told Cynthia the marriage was a "lost cause."
In June 2009, Cynthia began to suspect that Daniel had committed adultery.

Daniel admitted that he began a personal relationship with Maria Alvarez at the "end of November-
December time frame," but "it wasn't until either the last day of January or February when I actually
went to visit and — for the first time in 2010, and I wanted to date her at that point." However, in
September 2009, Cynthia found a woman's underwear and suitcase in the master bedroom of the
marital home. Also in September 2009, a private investigator filmed Daniel and Alvarez kissing and
hugging at an airport. In 2010, Daniel and Alvarez spent a number of weekends and took several trips
together. Further, although Daniel testified Alvarez later reimbursed him, Daniel also bought Alvarez
several expensive gifts.

Although there was conflicting evidence about when the relationship began, Daniel's relationship with
Alvarez was undisputed. Accordingly, the evidence is both legally and factually sufficient to support the
trial court's finding that Daniel *384 committed adultery, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by
granting the divorce on fault grounds. We resolve Daniel's second issue against him.

384

Property Division

In his first issue, Daniel asserts the trial court erred in dividing the marital estate because it lacked
sufficient valuation evidence to make an equitable and reasonable division. Daniel specifically
complains the trial court (1) improperly valued the major asset of the estate, (2) lacked sufficient
evidence of Cynthia's attorney's fees, (3) failed to value one-third of the assets and debts divided in the
decree, (4) improperly valued the real estate and other assets, (5) awarded to Daniel assets that he
liquidated, but did not award Cynthia assets that she liquidated, (6) awarded a grossly disproportionate
division to Cynthia without a reasonable basis, (7) considered factors in its division that were not
pleaded and for which there was no evidence, (8) failed to include unliquidated claims in its division,
and (9) made a punitive division of the property.

In a divorce decree, the trial court shall order a division of the parties' estate in a manner that the court
deems just and right, having due regard for the rights of each party. TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 7.001
(West 2006). The trial court is afforded broad discretion in dividing the community estate, and we must
indulge every reasonable presumption in favor of the trial court's proper exercise of its discretion.
Schlueter v. Schlueter, 975 S.W.2d 584, 589 (Tex.1998); Murff v. Murff, 615 S.W.2d 696, 698
(Tex.1981); Motley v. Motley, 390 S.W.3d 689, 695 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2012, no pet.).

The property division need not be equal, and a trial court may consider many factors when exercising
its broad discretion to divide the marital property. Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Barras v. Barras, 396
S.W.3d 154, 163 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2013, no pet. h.). Such factors include the nature of
the marital property, the relative earning capacity and business opportunities of the parties, the parties'
relative financial condition and obligations, the parties' education, the size of separate estates, the age,
health, and physical conditions of the parties, fault in breaking up the marriage, the benefit the innocent
spouse would have received had the marriage continued, and the probable need for future support.
Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Barras, 396 S.W.3d at 163. The party complaining of the division of the
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community estate has the burden of showing from the evidence in the record that the trial court's
division of the community estate was so unjust and unfair as to constitute an abuse of discretion. See
Mann v. Mann, 607 S.W.2d 243, 245 (Tex. 1980); Pappas v. Pappas, No. 03-12-00177-CV, 2013 WL
150300, at *1 (Tex. App.-Austin Jan. 10, 2013, no pet.) (mem. op.); Vannerson v. Vannerson, 857
S.W.2d 659, 672 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1993, writ denied).

Sufficient Evidence of Partnership Interest

Daniel first argues there was no or insufficient evidence of the value of the community's interest in a
partnership at the time of the divorce and that the interest was improperly valued as of the time of a
mediation in 2010. Daniel was one of three partners in GP Holdings, a partnership which controlled
Atlas Service Link, a corporate tax accounting and technology consulting firm. At the end of 2009,
Daniel's two partners told him that they had formed a new partnership that was buying Atlas Service
Link from GP Holdings and Daniel's interest in GP Holdings was being eliminated. GP Holdings also
placed *385 $1,115,000 into Daniel's capital account, reflecting its assessment of the value of Daniel's
interest in the partnership.

385

Cynthia testified that Daniel had communicated with her about the capital account and said it contained
$1.115 million. Daniel also told her that his share of the profits from the partnership for 2009 would be
approximately $1,000,000 and that he determined that number based on a schedule K-1 for the
partnership. In October 2010, Cynthia, Daniel, and Daniel's former partners participated in mediation in
an attempt to settle the value of marital estate's interest in the partnership. At that time, the partnership
valued the capital account at $1.115 million.

Daniel offered no contradictory evidence as to the value of the partnership interest, but testified there
was a difference between the value of the capital account and the value of his interest in GP Holdings.
He admitted a capital account is one method of valuing the interest, but disagreed that it was the
correct method to use in this case. He claimed he could not value any interest in the partnership
exceeding the amount in the capital account because he had been denied access by the partnership to
necessary information. He admitted that an expert he retained agreed with the value placed on the
partnership interest by GP Holdings, but contended the expert also was not provided all necessary
information.

The value of community assets is generally determined at the date of divorce or as close to it as
possible. Handley v. Handley, 122 S.W.3d 904, 908 (Tex. App.-Corpus Christi 2003, no pet.);
Grossnickle v. Grossnickle, 935 S.W.2d 830, 837 (Tex.App.-Texarkana 1996, writ denied). However, "
[n]earness in time is a matter left to the discretion of the trial court." Finch v. Finch, 825 S.W.2d 218,
223 (Tex. App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1992, no writ) (trial court did not abuse its discretion by considering
land appraisal made one year earlier in dividing real estate on date of divorce); see also Quijano v.
Quijano, 347 S.W.3d 345, 349-50 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2011, no pet.) (trial court did not
abuse its discretion by considering six-month-old statement to assess value of checking account when
that was best evidence of record concerning value of account). In this case, Cynthia provided the trial
court with a value of the partnership approximately six months before trial. The partnership had not
been active for over two years, and there was no evidence of any activity by the partnership between
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October 2010 and April 2011 that would have increased the value of the community's interest in the
partnership.

Daniel claims the partnership interest was improperly valued, but provided no evidence of what he
believed the interest was worth. Generally, a party who does not provide to the trial court any value for
the property cannot, on appeal, complain of the trial court's lack of information in dividing the
community estate. Deltuva v. Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d 882, 887 (Tex.App.-Dallas 2003, no pet.) (op. on
reh'g); Sereno v. Sereno, No. 13-08-00691-CV, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2 (Tex. App.-Corpus Christi
Dec. 30, 2010, no pet.) (mem. op.); Todd v. Todd, 173 S.W.3d 126, 129 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 2005,
pet. denied); Vannerson, 857 S.W.2d at 670. We conclude the trial court did not abuse its discretion by
valuing the partnership interest based on the value of the capital account as of September 2010.

Attorney's Fees

Daniel next asserts the trial court lacked sufficient evidence of Cynthia's attorney's fees to support the
award of the partnership interest to compensate her for her fees. Daniel argues the evidence failed to
*386 establish the hourly rate charged by Cynthia's attorney, the number of hours incurred, or that legal
assistant fees were recoverable; the amount of attorney's fees found by the trial court in its findings of
fact was more than the amount testified to by the attorney; and the trial court's award of the entire
capital account to Cynthia, to compensate her for the attorney's fees, awarded her more than she

sought and, therefore, constituted a windfall.[4]

386

The record shows both parties expended community funds during the pendency of the divorce to pay
attorney's fees and, at the time of trial, there were outstanding attorney's fees that had not been paid.

The trial court found that, through trial, Cynthia had incurred unpaid fees of $164,028.92,[5] while
Daniel had incurred unpaid fees of $130,000. The trial court found that "[o]rdering [Daniel] to pay
[Cynthia's] attorney's fees would simply result in extended litigation. Rather, it is more simple and fair to
award [Cynthia] a larger share of the main assets to compensate her for her attorney's fees."

A trial court may consider reasonable attorney's fees, along with the parties' circumstances and needs,
in effecting a just and right division of the estate. Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Carle v. Carle, 149 Tex.
469, 474, 234 S.W.2d 1002, 1005 (1950); Mandell v. Mandell, 310 S.W.3d 531, 542 (Tex.App.-Fort
Worth 2010, pet. denied). "[A] decree that the husband pay all of the wife's attorney's fees may be to
award him less of the community estate than that awarded to the wife, but that alone does not condemn
it. The attorney's fee is but a factor to be considered by the court in making an equitable division of the
estate, considering the conditions and needs of the parties and all the surrounding circumstances."
Carle, 149 Tex. at 474, 234 S.W.2d at 1005; see also Tedder v. Gardner Aldrich, LLP, No. 11-0767,
2013 WL 2150081, at *3-4 (Tex. May 17, 2013). Further, as in its decision to award fees as part of the
division, the trial court has broad discretion in determining the amount. Smith v. Grayson, No. 03-10-
00238-CV, 2011 WL 4924073, at *10 (Tex. App.-Oct. 12, 2011, pet. dism'd) (mem. op.) (citing Murff,
615 S.W.2d at 698-99).

Cynthia's trial counsel, George Parker, testified he had been licensed to practice law in Texas since
May 1976. He has been board certified in family law since 1985 and practices primarily in Collin County,
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Texas. He is familiar with the qualifications of the other attorneys in his firm and the hourly rates that
Cynthia contracted to pay in this case. In Parker's opinion, those rates are usual and customary in and
around Collin County for the type of work that has been done in the case. Further, the actions taken by
counsel on Cynthia's behalf had been necessary.

*387 In Parker's opinion, the fees in this case were reasonable. In reaching that opinion, Parker
considered that he had been retained late in the case and had to digest a lot of information in a short
period of time. Further, there were complicated issues surrounding the partnership interest and there
"have been some actions that have occurred through the time I've been representing [Cynthia] that
have complicated the property."

387

Parker testified three legal assistants had worked on the case. One of the legal assistants had been
with the firm for approximately twenty-two years and was "certified." A second legal assistant had been
with the firm for approximately ten years. In Parker's opinion, the tasks performed by the legal
assistants were reasonable and necessary and the hourly rate charged for their work was reasonable
and customary in and around Collin County.

Cynthia had incurred attorney's fees of $101,255 and had paid either $23,000 or $25,000 toward that
amount. Parker anticipated further work would be necessary to complete the case and estimated
another $5,000 in attorney's fees would be incurred by Cynthia. However, in closing argument, Parker
indicated Cynthia's attorney's fees were over $115,000, "just to us." The record also demonstrates that
counsel was required to perform a significant amount of work on the case after trial.

Daniel argues the evidence is insufficient to support the attorney's fee award because Cynthia's
attorney did not introduce evidence that the specific hourly rate charged by each attorney and legal
assistant was reasonable. Such specificity, however, is not required. In re W.M.R., No. 02-11-00283-
CV, 2012 WL 5356275, at *14 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth Nov. 1, 2012, no pet.) (mem. op.). Instead, "[t]o
support a request for reasonable attorney's fees, testimony should be given regarding the hours spent
on the case, the nature of preparation, complexity of the case, experience of the attorney, and the
prevailing hourly rates." Hardin v. Hardin, 161 S.W.3d 14, 24 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 2004, no
pet.) (citing Goudeau v. Marquez, 830 S.W.2d 681, 683 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1992, no writ)).
The trial court does not need to hear evidence on each factor but can "look at the entire record, the
evidence presented on reasonableness, the amount in controversy, the common knowledge of the
participants as lawyers and judges, and the relative success of the parties." Hagedorn v. Tisdale, 73
S.W.3d 341, 353 (Tex.App.-Amarillo 2002, no pet.) (citing Chilton Ins. Co. v. Pate & Pate Enters., Inc.,
930 S.W.2d 877, 896 (Tex.App.-San Antonio 1996, writ denied)).

Parker's testimony reflected he was familiar with each attorney's and legal assistant's experience and
the novelty and difficulty of the issues in this case. In his opinion the hourly rates charged were
reasonable and customary for Collin County. See In re A.S.G., 345 S.W.3d 443, 451-52 (Tex.App.-San
Antonio 2011, no pet.) (attorney's testimony sufficient to support fee award even though she "did not
testify to her hourly rate or exact number of hours spent on the case, [but] she did specifically ask for
$1,500 in attorney's fees and explained to the trial court their necessity and reasonableness."). We
conclude Parker's testimony is a reasonable basis for the award of attorney's fees. See In re A.B.P.,
291 S.W.3d at 98-99 (concluding attorney's testimony that he believed his fees were reasonable and



4/7/2014 In re Marriage of CAS and DPS, 405 SW 3d 373 - Tex: Court of Appeals, 5th Dist. 2013 - Google Scholar

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14991731854018199797&q=405+S.W.3d+373&hl=en&as_sdt=4,44 10/19

necessary, that he was familiar with the customary fees in the community, and that he believed his fees
fall within that range was sufficient for attorney's fee award); In re W.M.R., 2012 WL 5356275, at *14.

*388 On the record before us, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion by awarding
Cynthia a larger share of the "main assets" of the estate in order to compensate her for her attorney's
fees.

388

Other Alleged Valuation Errors

Daniel next contends the trial court erred in valuing the community estate because it failed to make
findings of fact as to the value of some assets, improperly valued some of the real estate, improperly
valued a model train collection, and included liquidated assets in the property awarded to Daniel
without doing so for Cynthia.

No Findings on Value

Daniel first argues the trial court lacked sufficient evidence to divide the marital estate because its
findings of fact and conclusions of law omit values for twenty-five assets and debts divided in the
decree. As set out above, when the value of an asset is not disputed, the trial court is not required to
make a finding of that asset's value. See TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.711(a); Jackson, 2011 WL
3373290, at *3. In his brief, Daniel does not argue that any of the listed assets had a disputed value.
Accordingly, Daniel has failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to make a
finding as to those assets' values.

Daniel next asserts the trial court's failure to make a finding as to the value of the parties' 2009 and
2010 tax liability "causes the division of net assets awarded to [Daniel] to be understated." However, as
set out above, the amount of the parties' tax liability was undisputed and, therefore, the trial court was
not required to make a finding as to the value of the liability. Further, there is nothing in the record to
demonstrate the trial court did not consider the undisputed value of the tax liability in making the
division of the community estate. See In re S.A.A., 279 S.W.3d at 857 ("A divorce court also has
authority and discretion to impose the entire tax liability of the parties on one spouse."). Finally, a trial
court can appropriately assign tax liability to one party or the other without knowing the exact amount of
that liability. See Kimsey v. Kimsey, 965 S.W.2d 690, 695 (Tex.App.-El Paso 1998, pet. denied)
(concluding appellate court could not determine whether there was manifest abuse of discretion by trial
court in dividing tax liability equally between parties when parties presented no evidence of amount of
potential tax liability); Mullins v. Mullins, 785 S.W.2d 5, 7-8 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1990, no writ)
(concluding trial court acted within its discretion in holding husband responsible for potential income tax
liability incurred during marriage); see also Young v. Young, 168 S.W.3d 276, 286 (Tex.App.-Dallas
2005, no pet.) (concluding trial court did not err by assigning responsibility for couples' income tax
liability to husband where evidence indicated he had failed to report certain income of company found
to be husband's alter ego). Consequently, Daniel has not demonstrated the trial court abused its
discretion by dividing the community estate without evidence establishing specific amounts for the
parties' 2009 and 2010 tax liabilities. See Quijano, 347 S.W.3d at 352.
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Daniel also asserts the trial court erred by failing to value the reward miles and points awarded to
Cynthia. The trial court awarded to Cynthia (1) the Starwood miles and/or points, (2) the American
Express air miles and/or points, and (3) all airline miles and/or points in Cynthia's name. The trial court
awarded Daniel all air miles not awarded to Cynthia. In its findings of fact, the trial court determined the
following reward miles or points were assets of the community estate: (1) American *389 Airlines miles in
Cynthia's name (66,937), (2) Southwest Airlines miles in Cynthia's name (no amount), (3) Starwood
points (144,867), (4) American Express Membership points (283,047), (5) Visa Celebrity miles in
Cynthia's name (13,201), (6) Visa Edge miles in Cynthia's name (0), (7) Visa Chase miles in Cynthia's
and Daniel's names (0), (8) Sears miles in Cynthia's name (23,906), (9) American Airlines miles in
Daniel's name (177,461), (10) Southwest Airlines miles in Daniel's name (no amount), (11) Delta
Airlines miles in Daniel's name (12,439), (12) Hyatt Points in Daniel's name (0), (13) Hilton Points in
Daniel's name (6,436), (14) Marriott Points in Daniel's name (112,709), (15) and Visa Chase Atlas
points in Daniel's name (253,010). The first eight categories were awarded to Cynthia and total
531,958 miles and/or points. Categories (9) through (15) were awarded to Daniel and total 565,055
miles and/or points.

389

The trial court awarded Daniel over fifty percent of the reward miles and/or points and there was no
evidence that any particular program was more valuable than another. See Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d at
887; Sereno, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2. On this record, Daniel has failed to establish the trial court
abused its discretion by not placing a value on the reward miles and/or points awarded to Cynthia.

Daniel finally argues the trial court erred by awarding the contents of Cynthia's safety deposit box to
her without evidence of the value of the contents of the box. Cynthia testified the safety deposit box
contained her rings and other gifts from Daniel. Neither Cynthia nor Daniel testified about the value of
the items in the safety deposit box. Accordingly, Daniel has waived his right to complain of the trial
court's lack of information in dividing the contents of the safety deposit box. Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d at
887; Sereno, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2

On this record, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion by failing to make a specific
finding of the value of any of the complained-about assets and liabilities.

Real Estate

Daniel contends the trial court overvalued the real estate awarded to him and undervalued the real
estate awarded to Cynthia. Daniel specifically complains the tax appraisals relied upon by Cynthia
cannot be used to determine the fair market value of real estate and, even if the tax appraisals
constituted some evidence of the value of the property, they are factually insufficient to support the trial
court's findings.

The trial court awarded the marital residence in Piano to Daniel and a rental property in Richardson to
Cynthia. Cynthia offered records from taxing authorities showing the appraised value of the two houses.
The trial court initially sustained Daniel's hearsay objections to the records. However, the tax appraisal
for the Piano house was admitted into evidence without objection during the cross-examination of
Daniel's expert witness and showed a value for the Piano house of $471,754. Cynthia testified without
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objection that she used the information from the tax appraisal districts to "at least partially" form the
basis for her opinion concerning the value of the properties. Cynthia believed the value of the Piano
house was the tax appraised value of $471,754 and the value of the Richardson house was the tax
appraised value of $132,970.

Daniel called Russell Nickell, a residential appraiser, to testify about the value of the two houses. In
conducting an appraisal, Nickell reviews the tax records and the tax assessments as well as sales of
comparable *390 properties. In Nickell's opinion, a tax assessment is generally a lagging indicator of a
house's value. However, the taxing authorities are more accurate now than they were historically
because the appraisals are done annually. In Nickell's opinion, sometimes the tax assessments are
accurate and sometimes they are not accurate. Nickell agreed that the taxing authorities do not always
agree with his appraisals.

390

Nickell used a sales comparison approach to appraise the two houses. According to Nickell, the Piano
house's value is $418,000 and the Richardson house's value is $166,000. In conducting his analysis,
Nickell gave the Piano house a fair to average rating. If, however, the house was in average condition,
the value could increase by $50,000. Nickell agreed the Piano house was not in a condition to "show" at
the time he appraised it.

In its findings of fact, the trial court valued the Piano house at $471,754 and the Richardson house at
$132,970. Relying on Kuehn v. Kuehn, 594 S.W.2d 158 (Tex. App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 1980, no writ),
Daniel asserts the evidence is insufficient to support the trial court's findings.

In Kuehn, the Houston Fourteenth Court of Appeals concluded the value placed on real estate for
taxation purposes without the participation of the owner could not be used to determine the fair market
value of the property. Id. at 161. The court based its opinion on the fact the appraisals were hearsay
and could not support a finding of fact. Id. (citing Perkins v. Springstun, 557 S.W.2d 343, 345
(Tex.Civ.App.-Austin 1977, writ ref'd n.r.e.) (hearsay evidence admitted without objection has no
probative value)). However, both Kuehn and Perkins were decided before the adoption of the Texas
Rules of Evidence. Rule of evidence 802 now provides that unobjected-to hearsay shall not be denied
probative value merely because it is hearsay. TEX.R. EVID. 802; see also City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at
812 n. 29. Here, the tax appraisal for the Piano house and Cynthia's testimony about the tax appraisal
for both houses was admitted without objection and, therefore, could constitute some probative
evidence on which the trial court could have relied. See Smith, 2011 WL 4924073, at *11.

Further, this is not a case in which the only evidence supporting the trial court's finding is the tax
appraisal. An owner may testify about the market value of her property. Gulf States Util. Co. v. Low, 79
S.W.3d 561, 566 (Tex.2002); Porras v. Craig, 675 S.W.2d 503, 504-05 (Tex. 1984). For several years,
Cynthia had been engaged in "flipping" houses, which involved buying, remodeling, and then selling a
house. She had bought and sold approximately eight houses. Although she relied, in part, on the tax
appraisals in reaching an opinion as to the value of the two houses at issue, she was familiar with the
market value of houses in the area and was qualified to express her opinion concerning the value of
those houses.

Daniel also argues that, in the face of Nickell's testimony, the evidence of the tax appraisals on the
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houses is factually insufficient to support the trial court's findings. The value of a community asset on
which there is disputed evidence is a question of fact. See TEX. FAM.CODE ANN. § 6.711(a)(2). As the
trier of fact, it was role of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses, weigh the testimony,
accept or reject any testimony, and resolve conflicts in the evidence. Dewalt v. Dewalt, No. 14-06-
00938-CV, 2008 WL 1747481, at *2 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] Apr. 17, 2008, no pet.) (mem. op.)
(citing City of Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 819); *391 see also Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 700. We "will not disturb a
trial court's resolution of conflicting evidence that turns on the credibility or weight of the evidence."
Ennis v. Loiseau, 164 S.W.3d 698, 706 (Tex. App.-Austin 2005, no pet.) (citing Benoit v. Wilson, 150
Tex. 273, 281, 239 S.W.2d 792, 796 (Tex.1951)). As long as the evidence falls "within [the] zone of
reasonable disagreement," we cannot substitute our judgment for that of the fact finder. See City of
Keller, 168 S.W.3d at 822.

391

The trial court heard the conflicting opinions on the value of the houses, rejected Nickell's opinion, and
accepted Cynthia's opinion of the value of both houses. On the record before us, we conclude that the
evidence of the houses' values was legally and factually sufficient, and in light of the broad discretion
vested in the trial court in dividing the property of parties in a divorce, we cannot say that the trial court
abused its discretion in its valuation of the Piano and Richardson houses. See id.; Smith, 2011 WL
4924073, at *11.

Train Collection

Daniel next contends the trial court's valuation of a model train collection was improperly based on
acquisition value. Cynthia testified that Daniel budgeted $200 per month for the purchase of trains
during the entire marriage. Daniel testified he did not spend his entire budget every month purchasing
trains. He also testified that part of the collection had been sold for $1,700, but offered no other
evidence of the collection's value. The trial court valued the collection at $8,800. Because Daniel failed
to offer any evidence of the train collection's value, he waived his right to complain on appeal about the
trial court's valuation of the property. Deltuva, 113 S.W.3d at 887; Sereno, 2010 WL 5541709, at *2

Liquidated Assets

Daniel also complains the trial court "recaptured" assets that Daniel liquidated by awarding them to
Daniel without doing the same for assets that Cynthia liquidated. According to Daniel, Cynthia operated
on a cash basis in 2009 and withdrew a large amount of money from the joint bank account and from a
retirement fund. Cynthia admitted she made cash withdrawals from the joint bank account in 2009, but
testified the money was used to purchase and repair two houses and that she provided invoices to
support the withdrawals. After one of the houses was sold, she used the sales proceeds to pay
community debt incurred to rehabilitate the property and then placed the remaining funds into the joint
bank account. The other house remained a community asset. Cynthia testified that, at some point in the
divorce proceedings, she was "strongly encouraged" by the trial court to withdraw money from a
retirement account to pay her attorney's fees. She also withdrew money from community accounts in
2010 to pay her living expenses after Daniel stopped transferring money into the joint bank account
and canceled her credit cards. Cynthia denied liquidating any other community assets.
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Trial began on April 18, 2011 and was recessed until June 29, 2011. In violation of the trial court's
standing order, Daniel liquidated a number of assets, including bank stock warrants, antique cars, part
of the model train collection, and part of a retirement account shortly before trial recommenced. Some
of the cars were sold to Daniel's friends and family members and some were sold at a loss. Further, in
Cynthia's opinion, the bank stock warrants would have been much more valuable in the future than they
were when Daniel sold them. Daniel admitted the trial court had not given him permission to liquidate
*392 any of the assets. Daniel testified that he used the money to pay attorney's fees, repay loans from
his brothers, pay the taxes owed due to the parties' withdrawals from retirement accounts, and for living
expenses. Daniel admitted he "missed" that at least some taxes had already been withheld when
Cynthia withdrew money from one of the retirement funds. Further, some of the attorney's fees paid by
Daniel were incurred pursuing Daniel's claims against GP Holdings. The trial court awarded any
remaining community interest in the assets liquidated by Daniel to Daniel.

392

The trial court heard evidence that the only assets liquidated by Cynthia were to pay her living
expenses and, at the trial court's encouragement, her attorney fees. Daniel, on the other hand,
admitted to having liquidated a number of assets during trial without the trial court's permission, did not
establish the assets were sold for market value, and did not fully account for the proceeds from the
sales. On this record, we cannot conclude that trial court abused its discretion by awarding the assets
liquidated by Daniel to him. See Schlueter, 975 S.W.2d at 588 (noting one spouse should not suffer just
because other spouse has depleted the community estate).

Adultery

Daniel next contends the trial court's finding of adultery does not support a disproportionate division of
property because his relationship with Alvarez began after the parties separated and did not constitute
fault that caused the breakup of the marriage. As we set out above, adultery does not have to occur
pre-separation for it to be a ground for granting a divorce. See Ayala, 387 S.W.3d at 732; Bell, 540
S.W.2d at 435. Generally, in a fault-based divorce, the trial court may consider the conduct of the
errant spouse in making a disproportionate distribution of the marital estate. See Young v. Young, 609
S.W.2d 758, 761-62 (Tex.1980); Ohendalski v. Ohendalski, 203 S.W.3d 910, 914 (Tex.App.-Beaumont
2006, no pet.). Accordingly, the trial court's finding of adultery can support the disproportionate division
of the community property.

Unreasonable Division of Property

Daniel next complains the trial court's disproportionate award to Cynthia is not supported by the
applicable factors. A trial court may consider various factors in making a property division. See Murff,
615 S.W.2d at 699. In its findings of fact, the trial court stated that, in dividing the marital property, it
considered: (1) fault in the breakup of the marriage, (2) fraud on the community, (3) benefits the
innocent spouse may have derived from the continuation of the marriage, (4) disparity of earning power
of the spouses and their ability to support themselves, (5) health of the spouses, (6) education and
future employability of the spouses, (7) community indebtedness and liabilities, (8) tax consequences of
the division of property, (9) ages of the spouses, (10) earning power, business opportunities, capacities
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and abilities of the spouses, (11) nature of the property involved in the division, (12) wasting of
community assets by the spouses, (13) credit for temporary support paid by a spouse, (14) misconduct,
including violation of the court's standing order, (15) attorney's fees to be paid, (16) the size and nature
of the separate estates of the spouses, and (17) creation of community property by the efforts or lack
thereof of the spouses.

This record establishes a number of circumstances that justify awarding a disproportionate share of the
community estate to Cynthia. First, a disparity in the financial condition and earning capacities *393 of
the parties is an important factor in dividing their estate. Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 699; Phillips v. Phillips, 75
S.W.3d 564, 574 (Tex.App.-Beaumont 2002, no pet.). Cynthia has a bachelor's degree in marketing
and, when she married Daniel, was a marketing manager at Sprint. Daniel had bachelor's degrees in
accounting and finance and economics and a master's degree in accounting. In 1998, Daniel started
his own consulting business and, in October 2001, Cynthia accepted a severance package from Sprint
and began working as an "administrative arm" of Daniel's business. Daniel's business subsequently
merged into GP Holdings and, as the business became more successful, Cynthia's services were no
longer needed. In 2008, Daniel earned more than $600,000 from the partnership.

393

Although Daniel testified at trial that his business reputation had been tarnished and he was unable to
obtain any clients, he testified at his deposition that he was confident he would have a number of clients
as soon as a covenant not to compete with Atlas Service Link expired. Further, in the Fall of 2010,
Daniel began performing work as a consultant through Intel McAfee. Daniel grossed approximately
$145,000 in 2010 and had grossed between $60,000 and $80,000 during the first half of 2011. Daniel
agreed that he also formed a new business entity in April 2010 and performed some consulting work
through that entity. Although he failed to provide information on that entity through discovery, he
claimed all money he had been paid was deposited into his checking account and that he produced
that information in discovery.

By 2009, Cynthia was engaged in flipping houses. However, she was prevented from pursuing this
career in 2010 due to Daniel's ceasing to provide support and cancelling her credit cards. Cynthia
testified she never made more than $80,000 per year flipping houses. According to Cynthia, she
"stunted the growth" of her company and her career to assist Daniel in building his company. Daniel
then lost his company due to "his bad behavior," and Daniel's "bad financial decisions" were affecting
Cynthia. Cynthia believed Daniel had greater earning potential than she did and that she did not have
the same ability as Daniel to pay her debt. Cynthia asked to be made as "liquid" as possible so that she
could resume flipping houses and have assets with which to pay her living expenses.

Second, the trial court could consider fault in the breakup of the marriage in dividing the community
estate. Young, 609 S.W.2d at 762. Cynthia testified that, even though she moved out of the marital
home, she hoped the parties would reconcile. She sought counseling to assist her and invited Daniel to
attend. Daniel did not meaningfully participate in counseling, and the counselor ultimately told Cynthia
the marriage was a "lost cause." In June 2009, Cynthia began to suspect Daniel was committing
adultery. In September 2009, Cynthia saw a woman's underwear in the master bedroom of the marital
home, and a private investigator filmed Daniel and Alvarez kissing and hugging at an airport. Daniel,
however, represented to the trial court that his relationship with Alvarez did not begin until later, a
statement the trial court could have found not to be credible.
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Third, a court may consider one spouse's wrongful dissipation of community assets when dividing a
marital estate. See Schlueter, 975 S.W.2d at 588-89. Throughout 2010, Daniel expended community
assets on trips to see Alvarez in Milwaukee, on trips with Alvarez to the Bahamas and to Europe, and on
gifts to Alvarez. Daniel testified that Alvarez reimbursed him for the gifts and that many *394 of the trips
to Milwaukee and to Europe were related to seeking work and were often reimbursed. Cynthia,
however, testified that she would receive none of the benefit for expenditures that Daniel made to look
for work and to build relationships for future work. Daniel also sold a number of community assets after
the trial started, some to friends and family. It was unclear whether the assets were sold for fair market
value, and Daniel did not fully account for the proceeds from the sales.

394

Fourth, the trial court could consider misconduct during the divorce proceedings. There was evidence
Daniel sold community assets in violation of the trial court's standing order. Further, Cynthia attempted
to depose Daniel during the divorce proceedings. Daniel canceled the first deposition on the day it was
scheduled, claiming he was too ill to attend. However, Alvarez flew to Dallas later that day and spent the
weekend with Daniel at various places in Dallas and Fort Worth. Daniel's second deposition was
scheduled on a Monday. He canceled the deposition on the previous Friday, again claiming he was too
ill to attend. Daniel, however, flew to Milwaukee that weekend and did not return to Dallas until after the
time his deposition was scheduled to begin. Cynthia testified she incurred attorney's fees due to
Daniel's actions.

Finally, a court may consider payments made to attorneys from the community estate. Roever v.
Roever, 824 S.W.2d 674, 676 (Tex.App.-Dallas 1992, no writ). Both parties had paid attorney's fees
from community assets. However, Cynthia received permission from the trial court to liquidate
community assets to pay the fees, while Daniel did not. There was also evidence that Daniel spent
community funds on attorney's fees to pursue a claim against his former partnership. Finally, Cynthia
testified that she incurred fees due to Daniel's conduct during the divorce proceedings, including
Daniel's failure to appear at scheduled depositions and failure to completely respond to Cynthia's
discovery requests.

On this record, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion by making a disproportionate
award of the marital property to Cynthia.

Casteel-Type Error

Daniel next argues the trial court committed Casteel-type error by weighing factors in the property
division for which there was no supporting evidence or pleadings. Daniel specifically asserts that
Cynthia did not plead that a disproportionate division of the property was justified based on fraud on
the community, health of the spouses, and the ages of the spouses.

The supreme court has held that reversible error is presumed when a broad-form question submitted to
the jury incorporates multiple theories of liability and one or more of those theories is invalid, Crown Life
Ins. Co. v. Casteel, 22 S.W.3d 378, 388 (Tex.2000), or when the broad-form question commingles
damage elements that are unsupported by legally sufficient evidence, Harris Cnty. v. Smith, 96 S.W.3d
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230, 233-34 (Tex.2002). See also Thota v. Young, 366 S.W.3d 678, 680 (Tex.2012). Without deciding
whether Casteel or Harris County is applicable to a trial court's application of relevant factors in
determining the division of a marital estate, we note the San Antonio Court of Appeals has concluded
that in order to preserve Casteel-type error in a bench trial, the party must request additional or
amended findings of fact that specifically draw the trial court's attention to the complaint that one of the
elements of damages included in the trial court's broad-form finding was unsupported by the evidence.
Tagle v. Galvan, *395 155 S.W.3d 510, 516 (Tex.App.-San Antonio 2004, no pet.); see also Miranda v.
Byles, 390 S.W.3d 543, 552 (Tex.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 2012, pet. filed) (op. on reh'g) (to preserve
error in bench trial, party must request additional findings of fact and conclusions of law asking for
detailed apportionment of findings between permissible and impermissible bases for liability). We have
concluded that Daniel failed to timely request additional findings of fact from the trial court. Accordingly,
Daniel has failed to preserve this complaint for our review. See Tagle, 155 S.W.3d at 516.

395

Failure to Divide and Award Unliquidated Assets

Daniel next complains the trial court failed to divide the community's interest in GP Holdings that
exceeded the money in the capital account. However, the trial court awarded Cynthia:

One Hundred percent (100%) of the community interest in and to GP Holdings Partnership,
a Texas general partnership, including, but not limited to any community interest in and to
Atlas Service Link, LLC, or the transmutations, if any, of said partnership or said LLC,
including but not limited to, any capital account held by said partnership or said LLC in the
name of or for the benefit of Daniel P. Silvey, valuing said capital account as it existed as
the time of the failed mediation on October 18, 2010.

We conclude the trial court awarded Cynthia all the community interest in the partnership.

Punitive Division

Daniel argues the property division is punitive and unjust and that punishing him for refusing to settle
his claim against the partnership is an impermissible basis for the property division. In support of his
argument, Daniel relies only on the trial court's valuing the capital account as of the time of the
mediation. As discussed above, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by relying on evidence from
the time of the mediation to value the capital account. Further, we see nothing in the record that
indicates the trial court's property division was based solely on Daniel's refusal to settle his claim
against the partnership. We conclude Daniel failed to establish the trial court's division of the property
was punitive. See Halleman v. Halleman, 379 S.W.3d 443, 453 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 2012, no pet.)
(overruling appellant's complaint trial court used property division to punish her because reasonable
basis supported disproportionate property division).

Cumulative Error
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Daniel finally argues the trial court's cumulative errors in making the property division require reversal.
Based on this record, we have concluded the trial court did not err in dividing the marital property.
Accordingly, there is no cumulative error that would require reversal of the property division.

Conclusion

The trial court had "the opportunity to observe the parties on the witness stand, determine their
credibility, evaluate their needs and potentials, both social and economic." Murff, 615 S.W.2d at 700.
We conclude the record contains evidence of a substantive and probative character to support the trial
court's division of the community property. Further, based on the record before us, we cannot say that

the trial court either clearly abused its discretion or made an inequitable division of marital assets.[6]

Therefore, we will not *396 disturb the trial court's judgment regarding the property division. We resolve
Daniel's first issue against him.

396

We affirm the trial court's judgment.

[1] Justice Mary Murphy w as on the panel and participated at the submission of this case but, due to her retirement from this Court on
June 7, 2013, did not participate in the issuance of this Opinion. See TEX.R.APP. P. 41.1(a), (b).

[2] Daniel's complaints are directed tow ard the f indings of fact and conclusions of law  made by the trial court on November 14, 2011.
Daniel does not complain about the trial court's failure to enter f indings of fact and conclusions of law  after the amended divorce
decree w as signed on January 26, 2012. Further, in his February 16, 2012 request for f indings of fact and conclusions of law  filed
after the amended judgment, Daniel did not request specif ied additional f indings and, therefore, failed to meet the requirements for a
request for additional f indings. See TEX.R. CIV. P. 298; Heard v. City of Dallas, 456 S.W.2d 440, 445 (Tex.Civ.App.-Dallas, 1970, w rit
ref 'd n.r.e.) (op. on reh'g); Vickery v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline, 5 S.W.3d 241, 255-56 (Tex.App.-Houston [14th Dist.] 1999, pet.
denied)

[3] See Goodfellow v. Goodfellow, No. 03-01-00633-CV, 2002 WL 31769028, at *8 (Tex. App.-Austin, Dec. 12, 2002, no pet.) (not
designated for publication).

[4] Cynthia initially requested she be aw arded $658,000 from the capital account. The trial court found Cynthia had outstanding
attorney's fees of $164,028.92. Therefore, Daniel contends, the total amount that could have been aw arded to Cynthia from the capital
account w as $822,000. How ever, Cynthia testif ied she had also paid attorney's fees to both her former and trial counsel and
requested the trial court order Daniel to pay those fees as w ell. See Grossnickle, 935 S.W.2d at 847 (prior payments out of the
community estate to attorneys in the divorce action are to be taken into account in the division of the marital estate); see also Tucker v.
Tucker, No. 13-11-00056-CV, 2013 WL 268937, at *11 (Tex.App.-Corpus Christi Jan. 24, 2013, no pet. h.) (memo. op).

[5] The trial court found that Cynthia ow ed $44,038.92 to her former attorney, w ho had intervened in the divorce proceeding seeking
the unpaid fees, and $120,000 to her trial attorney. On appeal, Daniel has complained only about the f inding that Cynthia ow ed
$120,000 to her trial attorney.

[6] Because w e review  each case on its merits, the division of marital estates in other cases does not control our disposition of
Daniel's issues. How ever, w e note that similar divisions of marital estates have been upheld on appeal in similar circumstances. See
Rafidi v. Rafidi, 718 S.W.2d 43, 45-46 (Tex.App.-Dallas 1986, no w rit) (85-90% of marital estate to w ife); Morrison v. Morrison, 713
S.W.2d 377, 379 (Tex.App.-Dallas 1986, w rit dism'd) (83.5%); Ohendalski, 203 S.W.3d at 914-15(81%); Faram v. Gervitz-Faram, 895
S.W.2d 839, 844 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1995, no pet.) (72.9%); Golias v. Golias, 861 S.W.2d 401, 403 (Tex.App.-Beaumont 1993, no
w rit) (79%); Oliver v. Oliver, 741 S.W.2d 225, 228-29 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1987, no w rit) (80%); Huls v. Huls, 616 S.W.2d 312, 317-
18 (Tex.Civ.App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1981, no w rit) (85%).

Save trees - read court opinions online on Google Scholar.
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Human Trafficking Bills Passed in the 83rd Legislative Session 

 

SB 92 (Van de Putte); HB 91 (Senfronia Thompson): Designates a juvenile court and a pre-
adjudication diversion program for juveniles alleged to have engaged in delinquent conduct or 
conduct indicating a need for supervision when there is cause to believe that the child is a human 
trafficking victim. Signed by Governor, effective 9/1/13.   

SB 94 (Van de Putte); HB 90 (Senfronia Thompson): Provides opportunity to human trafficking 
survivors to seek civil remedies from traffickers and publishers of advertisements about their 
compelled prostitution. Signed by Governor, effective 9/1/13.   

HB 2725 (Senfronia Thompson); SB 1354 (Van de Putte): Includes shelters that serve human 
trafficking survivors in the exception that allows shelters to maintain confidential records of the 
identity their employees and clients, and their location.  Requires the Department of Family and 
Protective Services to adopt minimum standards for residential facilities that provide 
comprehensive services to survivors of human trafficking.  Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 

HB 1272 (SenfroniaThompson); SB 811 (Van de Putte): Requires the Texas Office of the 
Attorney General’s Human Trafficking Prevention Task Force to work with the Texas Education 
Agency (TEA) and the Health and Human Services Commission to develop curriculum and train 
medical providers and school personnel to identify human trafficking victims.  Passed and 
enrolled, sent to Governor. 

HB 432 (Riddle): Allows charitable contributions by state employees to assist domestic victims of 
human trafficking and makes the Health and Human Services Commission, for the sole purpose of 
administering this grant program, an eligible charitable organization entitled to participate in the 
state employee charitable campaign.  Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 

HB 8 (Senfronia Thompson); SB 532 (Van de Putte): Broadens class of individuals eligible to 
file an application for a protective order to all survivors of human trafficking, makes trafficking 
survivors eligible for reimbursement for relocation and housing expenses, and requires the 
attorney general to include human trafficking survivors in the address confidentiality program. 
Adds compelling prostitution to the list of felonies with no statute of limitation concerning when 
an indictment may be presented and increases penalties for  traffickers and “johns,” including 
requiring individuals convicted or adjudicated for solicitation of a minor to register as a sex 
offender.  Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 

SB 12 (Huffman); HB 330 (Riddle): Allows evidence of prior similar offenses to be admitted in 
cases involving certain sexual offenses against a child, including: Sex Trafficking of a Child; 
Sexual Assault of a Child; and Online Solicitation of a Minor. Additionally, this bill requires the 
trial judge to stringently review the evidence in a hearing out of the presence of the jury before 
the evidence may be admitted. Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 

SB 357 (Hinojosa); HB 1292 (Anchia): Requires the court to issue a protective order when, at 
the close of a hearing on an application for a protective order, the court finds reasonable grounds 
to believe that the applicant is a survivor of trafficking or sexual abuse.  Passed and enrolled, sent 
to Governor. 



HCR 57 (Hunter):  Resolution requesting that the lieutenant governor and the speaker of the 
house of representatives create a joint interim committee to study human trafficking in Texas and 
submit a full report to the 84th Legislature in January, 2015.  Passed and enrolled, sent to 
Governor. 

HB 1120 (Riddle); SB 556 (Wendy Davis): Adds “encouraging individuals” to report activity 
relating to human trafficking to the duties of the Texas Crime Stoppers Council and includes 
trafficking of persons in list of offenses where financial reward is available.  Passed and 
enrolled, sent to Governor. 

HB 3241 (Senfronia Thompson): Creates the civil offense of racketeering related to human 
trafficking, under which the attorney general may bring a suit for damages and injunctive relief.  
Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 

HB 1206 (Parker):  Requires law enforcement to actively investigate the location of a child who, 
for a period of at least 48 hours, has been taken from a parent and with the purpose of depriving that 
parent of access to the child. Upon finding the child, it further requires law enforcement to assess the 
well-being of the child and to follow standard protocol in involving child protective services in the 
case if the child is suspected to be the victim of abuse or neglect as defined in the Family Code.  
Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor.   
 
HB 2268 (Frullo); SB 1052 (Carona):  Amends current law relating to search warrants issued in this 
state and other states for certain customer data, communications, and other related information held 
in electronic storage in this state and other states by providers of electronic communications services 
and remote computing services.  Assists law enforcement access information and data vital to 
prosecute an offense under state law, particularly relating to internet crimes. Passed and enrolled, 
sent to Governor. 
 
HB 2539 (Chris Turner); SB 1190 (Davis):  Requires computer technicians to report images of 
child pornography and provides a criminal penalty.  Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 
 
SB 484 (Whitmire); HB 3377 (Sylvester Turner):  Authorizes the establishment of prostitution 
prevention programs to provide certain prostitution offenders access to information, counseling, 
and services regarding sex addiction, sexually transmitted diseases, mental health, and substance 
abuse.  Passed and enrolled, sent to Governor. 
 
  
 


